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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET
("GEM") OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may
be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater
risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a
market more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is
a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in
the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM
is publication on the Internet website operated by the Stock
Exchange. Listed companies are not generally required to issue
paid announcements in gazette newspapers. Accordingly,
prospective investors should note that they need to have access
to the GEM website at www.hkgem.com in order to obtain up-
to-date information on GEM-listed issuers.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
on or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors of ZMAY Holdings Limited
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose
of giving information with regard to ZMAY Holdings Limited. The
directors of ZMAY Holdings Limited, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief:
(1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading, (2) there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement in this
report misleading, and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have
been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded
on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Corporate Information
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chu Hon Pong (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Wing Tai

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen

Mr. Man Kwok Leung

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Lam Wing Tai

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Lam Wing Tai
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen

Mr. Man Kwok Leung

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen

Mr. Man Kwok Leung

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

British West Indies
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE RGIBFELRERE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House, 68 Fort Street Butterfield House, 68 Fort Street
P.O. Box 609 P.O. Box 609

Grand Cayman KY1-1107 Grand Cayman KY1-1107
Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG BEETEEHEME

Unit 902, 9th Floor BAEPIR

Wings Building ERREF110-1165%
110-116 Queen’s Road Central XEEERE

Central, Hong Kong 912902 =

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR & BEERBBFERLZSE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Standard Limited BEEREGRAF

26th Floor, Tesbury Centre BE

28 Queen'’s Road East B

Wanchai ERRBER 285

Hong Kong EEPL261E

WEBSITE ADDRESS @k
http://www.zmayholdings.com http://www.zmayholdings.com
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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of ZMAY Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2011.

During the year, the Group has commenced a new business on sales
of electronic components. This segment generated stable revenue and
profit to the Group. The segment of healthcare products recorded a
profit of approximately HK$11,000 (2010: loss of HK$94,000) during
the year. The segment of funeral and related business reduced the
loss to approximately HK$3,356,000 (2010: HK$41,756,000).

During the year, the Company conducted an equity fund raising
activity by means of placing the new shares. Net proceeds of the
placing the new shares were approximately HK$43 million. It is in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole to raise
equity capital to strengthen the Group’s financial position and enlarge
its capital base.

APPRECIATIONS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our sincere gratitude to all our equity holders, customers, business
partners who have been offering their support, confidence and
encouragement to us. Not to mention the great devotion, diligence
and effort of the management and the members of staff who tirelessly
committed themselves in striving for improvements of the Group.
With all these supports remain, we shall continue to explore means to
improve the Group's performance and provide investment returns to
the investors.

Chu Hon Pong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately HK$79,733,000 (2010: HK$74,505,000), representing
an increase of 7% as compared to last year. The increase in turnover
was mainly due to the Group commencing a new business on sale of
electronic components.

The administrative and other operating expenses for the year
amounted to approximately HK$39,805,000 (2010: HK$40,942,000),
which included a non-cash expenses of HK$4,102,000 (2010: Nil)
relating to the share-based payments to certain consultants of the
Company.

During the year under review, the Company recorded a fair
value changes on available-for-sale investments of approximately
HK$1,026,000 in the other comprehensive income and investments
revaluation reserve respectively. The available-for-sale investments
represent the investment on the listed equity securities in Hong Kong
for long-term investments purpose.

The loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the year was
approximately HK$8,930,000 (2010: HK$39,769,000) and the loss per
share was 0.48 HK cents (2010: 3.15 HK cents).

Healthcare Products

The turnover of healthcare products for the year amounted to
approximately HK$12,550,000 (2010: HK$21,300,000) which
accounted for 15.7% (2010: 28.6%) of the Group's turnover. This
segment recorded a profit of approximately HK$11,000 (2010: loss of
HK$94,000).

Electronic Components

The Group commenced the sale of electronic components business
during the year under review and recorded the turnover approximately
HK$18,638,000 (2010: Nil) which accounted for 23.4% of the
Group’s turnover. This segment recorded a profit of approximately
HK$142,000 (2010: Nil).

Funeral and related businesses

The turnover of funeral and related businesses for the year under
review amounted to approximately HK$48,545,000 (2010:
HK$53,205,000) which accounted for 60.9% (2010: 71.4%) of
the Group's turnover. The decrease in turnover was mainly due to
the disposal of certain subsidiaries during the year. This segment
recorded a loss before finance costs and income tax of approximately
HK$3,356,000 (2010: HK$41,756,000).

On 24 September 2010, The Group entered into the Disposal
Agreement with Loong Glory Global Investments Limited (the
"Purchaser”), an Independent Third Party, to sell the 51% interest
in the registered and paid-up capital of each of Xinjiang Ruilin
Zhiye Company Limited and Neimenggu Shenghe Development
Limited (together, the “Disposed Companies”) at an aggregate

consideration of approximately HK$22,524,308.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Disposal constituted a discloseable transaction for the Company
under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules and details of information
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 24 September
2010. The Disposal was completed on 4 October 2010 and recorded a
loss of approximately HK$68,000.

PROSPECTS

The Board expects that the global economic environment will remain
challenging and uncertain for the year 2011. We will constantly
keep reviewing the Group's strategies and operations with a view to
improve its business performance and shareholders returns. Going
forward, the Board will explore other investment opportunities to
expand and diversify its portfolio.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had net current assets
approximately HK$149,601,000 (2010: HK$156,326,000). The cash
and cash equivalents was approximately HK$99,961,000 (2010:
HK$72,657,000) and accounted for 39% of the current assets (2010:
28%). The bank borrowings were approximately HK$4,749,000
(2010: HK$3,412,000) and the interest expenses for the year
were approximately HK$683,000 (2010: HK$1,047,000) of which
HK$448,000 (2010: HK$886,000) was imputed interest expense on
capitalized land lease payments. The gearing ratio of the Group, being
the ratio of total liabilities to total assets, was approximately 24.5%
(2010: 26.8%).

On 8 October 2010, the Company and Kingston Securities Limited
(the “Placing Agent”) entered into the Placing Agreement pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place, through
the Placing Agent on a fully underwritten basis, 346,000,000 Placing
Shares at a price of HK$0.128 per Placing Share. The net proceeds
of approximately HK$43,000,000 from the Placing were intended to
be used for the general working capital of the Group and/or further
investment if suitable opportunities are identified in the future.
The Placing was completed and the Placing Shares were issued
on 1 November 2010. Details of information and the meanings of
the Capitalized terms used herein were set out in the Company's
announcements dated on 8 October 2010 and 1 November 2010.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue and incurs costs in Hong Kong Dollar,
United States Dollar and Renminbi and considers that the impact of
foreign exchange exposure of the Group is minimal.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CHARGE OF GROUP ASSETS
As at 31 March 2011, the Group did not have any material charge on
assets (2010: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
The Group has invested in shares of certain companies that are traded
over the Stock Exchange for the purpose of long-term investments.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had available-for-sale investments at
fair value of approximately HK$57,747,000 (2010: Nil).

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant
investment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 24 September 2010, the Group entered into the Disposal
Agreement with the Purchaser to sell the Disposed Companies. The
Disposal constituted a discloseable transaction under the GEM Listing
Rules and details of the information were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 September 2010.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2011, the Group employed a total of 124 (2010:
240) full-time employees in Hong Kong and PRC. During the year, the
total remuneration to employees, including directors’ emoluments
and retirement benefits amounted to approximately HK$10,362,000
(2010: HK$14,030,000). The Group remunerates its employees based
on their performance, qualification, experience and the prevailing
industry practice.

Save as disclosed above, there are no material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries during the year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2011, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2010: Nil).
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Profile of Directors
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Hon Pong, aged 61, is the chairman of the Group. Mr. Chu
is responsible for overseeing the formulation of corporate strategy
of the Group. Mr. Chu joined the Group on 9 October 2007. Mr.
Chu holds a Master Degree of Business Administration from Stevens
Institute of Technology in New Jersey, the United States of America.
He is the Chairman of American Dream Parks & Entertainment Group.
His businesses covered land and property development and trade of
petroleum in the PRC, Hong Kong and Taiwan. He has over 30 years’
experience in direct investment, international trade, manufacturing,
business and industrial management in the PRC, Hong Kong, Taiwan,
Vietnam and the United States of America. He has been the personal
assistant to Mr. Robert Miller, the chairman of Search Investment
Holdings Limited and was designated as chief executive officer and
chairman to a listed Company and certain corporations in Hong Kong
and PRC. In the early 80's, he was appointed as the factory manager
in a joint venture steel factory, namely Sino Master Steel Company
Limited, in Shenzhen, PRC. In the 90's, he was the founder of Vietnam
Duty Free Industry. Mr. Chu is an independent non-executive director
of DVN (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 500), which is listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lam Wing Tai, aged 44, holds a Bachelor of Commerce Degree
in Australian National University. Mr. Lam is a member of the Australia
Society of Certified Public Accountants and an associate member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lam had
worked for international accountancy firms and listed companies for
many years. He has nearly 18-years’ experience in the accounting and
auditing field.

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau, aged 44, has over 15 years' experiences in
accounting and auditing fields including over 10 years' accounting
and auditing experience in other listed companies. He is an executive
director of China Energy Development Holdings Limited (stock code:
228), which is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. He is
also an independent non-executive director of Aurum Pacific (China)
Group Limited (stock code: 8148), which is listed on GEM.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen, aged 53, received his Ph.D. degree from
Harvard University, and was “Distinguished Visiting Scholar” at
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania. Dr. Wong has
worked in financial industries in the United States and Hong Kong for
many years, and has considerable experience in corporate finance,
investment and derivative products. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Securities Institute. Dr. Wong is an executive director of UBA
Investments Limited (stock code: 768), and an independent non-
executive director of Harmony Asset Limited (stock code: 428),
Bauhaus International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 483), Kaisun
Energy Group Limited (stock code: 8203), China Yunnan Tin Minerals
Group Company Limited (stock code: 263), Climax International
Company Limited (stock code: 439), Golden Resorts Group Limited
(stock code: 1031), Kong Sun Holdings Limited (stock code: 295),
Hua Yi Copper Holdings Limited (stock code: 559) and China Grand
Forestry Green Resources Group Limited (stock code: 910) and New
Island Printing Holdings Limited (stock code: 377). Dr. Wong was an
independent non-executive director of Grand Field Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 115) from September 2004 to September 2009,
Superb Summit International Timber Company Limited (stock code:
1228), from April 2007 to June 2010, China E-Learning Group Limited
(stock code: 8055) from August 2007 to June 2010 and chairman and
executive director of Green Energy Group Limited (stock code: 979)
from December 2009 to May 2010. All the above said companies are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange and GEM.

Mr. Man Kwok Leung, aged 64, is a solicitor of the High Court of
Hong Kong and a civil celebrant of marriages. Mr. Man has extensive
experience in the legal practice. He had been appointed by Xinhua
News Agency as a district advisor from 1995 to 1997. He is currently
appointed as a director of Apleichau Kai Fong Primary School, the
deputy chairman of Apleichau Kai Fong Welfare Association, the
secretary of Apleichau Promotion of Tourism Association and the
honorary legal advisor of Junior Police Officers’ Association. Mr. Man
is an independent non-executive director of Climax International
Company Limited (Stock code: 439), Kong Sun Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 295), Hua Yi Copper Holdings Limited (Stock code: 559) and
Sam Woo Holdings Limited (Stock code: 2322) which are companies
listed on the main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth, aged 42, has over 19 years of
experience in accounting and financial control. He holds a Bachelor
of Accountancy Degree from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom, an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chi is an executive director
of three companies listed on main board of the Stock Exchange
namely Hua Yi Copper Holdings Limited (stock code: 559), China
Grand Forestry Green Resources Group Limited (stock code: 910) and
Morning Star Resources Limited (stock code: 542), and an executive
director of M Dream Inworld Limited (stock code: 8100 which is listed
on GEM); an independent non-executive director of Aurum Pacific
(China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148 which is listed on GEM); and
an independent non-executive director of Sam Woo Holdings Limited
(stock code: 2322).

10

ERMERE 25 RETEVMBEETEEEFRE T
FRB - -PRHATBEIREGHBRLEMN  WAR
BEESHFARGHMAGERGE BESTNAES
5 BARTMELCSSRRRBSIMERITRAR
g8 FRARL=FHIMIR ETARERRE
FEBRARAR (B 559)  MEMARZEER
SEERAT (RMHRRE - 910) REREBFR QA (AR
SR 542) ZHITES ¢ AIFR EMABBEE I
RERRF PO : 8100) 2 AITEF R BAFEE
EARAR (MRS - 8148) 2B IFMITES : k=
MEBMBR AR RIHRIE  2322) 2IBILIERITESE -

i

5



ANNUAL REPORT 2011 43k

Corporate Governance Report

OVERVIEW
The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in
the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2011.

It is always a key concern of the Company to have high standards of
corporate governance. It is important because the Board believes that
good quality corporate governance would assist the management to
monitor the Company’s business activities effectively and thus equity
holders” interests will be well protected.

The Board will discuss the code provisions set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) and the Company’s compliance and
deviations throughout the year ended 31 March 2011.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have
complied with such code of conduct and the required standard of
dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2011.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should
take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Board comprises six members
consisting of three executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors (the “INEDs"”). Mr. Chu Hon Pong (“Mr. Chu”),
Mr. Lam Wing Tai (“Mr. Lam”) and Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (“Mr.
Chui”) served as executive Directors. Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (“Mr.
Chi"”), Dr. Wong Yun Kuen (“Dr. Wong") and Mr. Man Kwok Leung
("Mr. Man") served as INEDs.

The Board meets at least four times a year to review the financial and
operating performance of the Group.
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There were 14 Board meetings held for the year ended 31 March
2011. Individual attendance of each Board member at these meetings
is as follows:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Chu Hon Pong FEALE

Mr. Lam Wing Tai MoKTREE

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau BENERE A
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEMEE

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen =HEEELT

Mr. Man Kwok Leung BEIREE

In compliance with Rules 5.01 and 5.02 of the GEM Listing Rules in
regarding to INEDs, the Company has currently three INEDs, namely
Mr. Chi, Dr. Wong and Mr. Man. Mr. Chi has the appropriate
accounting expertise. These INEDs can help the management to
formulate the Group’s development strategies, ensure the Board
prepares its financial and other mandatory reports in strict compliance
with required standards, and ensure the Company maintains
appropriate system to protect the interests of the Company and its
equity holders. The Board has received the annual confirmation in
respect of their independence from each of the INEDs, and believes
that their independence is in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules
at the date of this annual report.

DISTINCTIVE ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

Mr. Chu is the Chairman of the Company who is responsible for
managing the Board and overseeing the formulation of corporate
strategy of the Group. The chief executive officer of the Company is
responsible for the overall management and business operations of
the group. The chief executive officer of the Company is vacated, the
Board is in the process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy as soon as practicable.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Code Provisions A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-
executive Directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election.

All INEDs are not appointed for a fixed term of office, but they are
subject to the retirement by rotation and shall be eligible for re-
election at the annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the Company
in line with the Company'’s Articles of Association.

The Code Provisions A.4.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Article 87 of the articles of association of the Company required
that every director of the Company shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An audit committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the relevant GEM Listing Rules. There are three
members in the audit committee comprising three INEDs, namely, Mr.
Chi, Dr. Wong and Mr. Man. Mr. Chi is the Chairperson of the audit
committee and a certified public accountants. The primary duties
of the audit committee are to review and provide supervision over
the financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the
Group and to review the Company’s annual report and accounts,
half-yearly report and quarterly reports and to provide advices and
comments thereon to the Board. The audit committee meets at least
four times a year with management and meets at least once a year
with external auditor to review the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and to discuss audit findings, internal control,
accounting and financial reporting matters. The audit committee
met four times during the year ended 31 March 2011, individual
attendance of each committee member at these meetings is as
follows:

Committee members =}
=+

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth S
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen =EEELT
Mr. Man Kwok Leung =)

The Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2011 have been reviewed by the audit committee.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee has been established with written terms
of reference in accordance with the requirements of the CG Code.
The remuneration committee comprises one executive Director
and three INEDs, namely, Mr. Chui, being the chairperson of the
remuneration committee, Mr. Chi, Dr. Wong and Mr. Man. The
principal responsibilities of the remuneration committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy, and
structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management,
and reviewing the specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors and senior management by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.

During the year under review, the remuneration committee held 1
meeting and the attendance record is set out below:

Committee members

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau IR
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEMEE
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen =HEEELT
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BERRLELE

REMUNERATION OF THE AUDITORS

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the performance of Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited (the
“Pan-China”) as the independent auditors of the Company and
proposed to re-appoint Pan-China as the independent auditors at the
forthcoming AGM. The auditors’ remuneration for the years ended 31
March 2011 and 2010 were HK$380,000.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION OF THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance and
the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The responsibility of the auditors is set out in the “Independent
Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment,
maintenance and review of the Group's system of internal control.
For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Board periodically reviewed
its internal control system to ensure its effectiveness and adequacy,
which embraced financial, operational and risk management control.
The Board also satisfied with the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Directors will meet with Shareholders of the Company and answer
enquiries raised by them in the annual and special general meetings.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present the annual report and audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in (i) sale of healthcare products; (ii) sale of
electronic components and (iii) funeral and related businesses. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages
22 to 23.

No interim dividend was declared for the years ended 31 March 2011
and 2010 and the Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the published results, assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years and reclassified as appropriated, is set out on page 100. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves and distributable reserves of the
Company and the Group during the year are set out in Note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements and consolidated statement of
changes in equity respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Company’s share options scheme are set out in Note 29
to the consolidated financial statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the fixed assets of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chu Hon Pong (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Wing Tai

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen

Mr. Man Kwok Leung

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Chu Hon Pong and Mr. Lam Wing Tai will retire at
the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company has a service contract with the Company which was not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2011, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the minimum standards of dealings by
directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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EERRTE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the reporting period was the Company, or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt
securities, including debentures, of the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of the directors or their spouses or children
under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of
the Company, or had exercised any such right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2011, the Directors were not aware of any other
person who had an interests and short positions of persons in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote on all circumstances at general meetings of any other
members of the Group, or substantial shareholders as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF
THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year under
review.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 40.6% of the Group's total purchases and the largest
supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 19.4% of the
Group's total purchases. Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's
five largest customers were approximately 34% of the Group's sales
while the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
15.7% of the Group's sales.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than
5% of the issued capital of the Company) had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s major suppliers and customers for the financial year
ended 31 March 2011.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2011, none of the Directors, the management
shareholders of the Company and their respective associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which
causes or may cause a significant competition with the business of the
Group.
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FESHE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT TEARERE

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained — RAGFREH - RIFAR R A ARG 2 BB R
the prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules based on the ~ AR B EEH - AR FMEFAIZR EHRAFRTEZ
information that is publicity available to the Company and within the ~ RARIFRKE -

knowledge of the Directors of the Company.

AUDITORS B
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Pan-China &AM EBRERDEHAE (FB) S:THIEBMER AT
(H.K.) CPA Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for  Z#x o Xf& (F#) T EHAER A RTEER ©

re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. HEERLREENEERFBEFAGEIEE -
On behalf of the Board REEEE

Chu Hon Pong FE

Chairman RIER

Hong Kong, 28 June 2011 BE ZT——FXAZ+/\H
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Independent Auditors’ Report

VR IR

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ZMAY
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 22 to 99, which
comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial
position as at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of the report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company
as at 31 March 2011 and of the Group's loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PAN-CHINA (H.K.) CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

20/F., Hong Kong Trade Centre,
161-167 Des Voeux Road,
Central, Hong Kong,

Hong Kong S.A.R., China

Hong Kong, 28 June 2011

Tsang Chiu Keung
Practising Certificate Number P04968
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

N EL e

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other revenue and net income

Administrative and operating
expenses

Finance costs

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Impairment of goodwill

Impairment of other receivables

Loss before tax

Income tax

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Fair value changes on available-for-sale
investments

Exchange difference arising on
translation of foreign operations

Release of translation reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries

Total comprehensive income
for the year

22

Note(s)
EE S 6(a)
SHERA
ER
Hi s &I A FRE 6(b)
ITHREEMX
BRER 7
HEMB QAR ZER 31
BB E 16
H At FE WRRRLE
BRBLATE B 8
Frig%t 9
REEFE
Hit 2 EE .

AHEERE Z AT EED)

BEBIEBELZELEZR

EE

ST E 2 RIS O
BEGF

i

FEERHRHEAE

2011
—E——F

HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
79,733 74,505
(45,884) (35,585)
33,849 38,920
2,144 762
(39,805) (40,942)
(683) (1,047)
(68) —
(1,151) (20,473)
(4,165) (25,360)
(9,879) (48,140)
(81) (1,537)
(9,960) (49,677)
(1,026) —
5,649 518
(279) —
(5.616) (49,159)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Loss attributable to:
— owners of the Company
— non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
— owners of the Company
— non-controlling interests

Loss per share:
— Basic and diluted (HK Cents)

P58 -
— AREEAA
— JFfERR ks

EEEEKSEAE :

— RREHEE A
— SRR

BRER
— EARK#EE (B

Note(s)
{hr=s

12

2 H

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE=F——F=H=1+—HLFE

A4
IR

2011 2010
—E——F —ET—TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT T
(8,930) (39,769)
(1,030) (9,908)
(9,960) (49,677)
(7,417) (39,505)
1,801 (9,654)
(5,616) (49,159)
(0.48) (3.15)

23



ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED 1 RZENERBR A

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR

As at 31 March 2011 R=Z——&F=H=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Fixed assets

Goodwill

Available-for-sale investments

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank borrowing
Trade and other payables

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term payables

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to the owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY
Chu Hon Pong
RIER
Executive Director

HITEF

24

Note(s)
B aE
FRBEE
EE&E 15
EES 16
Al ERE 18
FREBEE
FE 19
%HQE‘EW\&E{@J—E”&W\ 21
B MBI 22
RBAaE
RITIEE 23
FEAT BR 3R e E b FE A5 5108 25
REEEFHE
wEERRBAR
kFRBEE
REAFER KB 26
BETH
BAK#E
f& 7 28
{1 30
NAREE ANE(RER
FEYERR R
ERAE

2011 2010

S i
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FT
111,028 151,487
8,522 9,286
57,747 —
177,297 160,773
41,271 47,733
114,686 138,820
99,961 72,657
255,918 259,210
4,749 3,412
101,568 99,472
106,317 102,884
149,601 156,326
326,898 317,099
— 9,769

— 9,769
326,898 307,330
83,112 69,272
186,352 160,451
269,464 229,723
57,434 77,607
326,898 307,330

Chui Kwong Kau

BEXER

Executive Director

HITEE



NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Fixed assets

Investment in subsidiaries
Available-for-sale investments

CURRENT ASSETS

Amount due from subsidiaries
Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Amount due to a subsidiary
Trade and other payables

NET CURRENT ASSETS

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

Chu Hon Pong
KEF
Executive Director

HITEE

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 43k

Statement of Financial Position

Note(s)
BT
FRBEE
BEEEE 15
KRB RAEZIRE 17
Al ERE 18
FREBEE
JE Y BfT B R B)FRIE 20
JFEE LT AR 3 I L At P U 5k IR 21
Be MIRTTH 22
REBAE
FER— KW B A R FRIE 24
FEA BR 3R I E A FE A5 5RIE 25
REEEFE
BEZRE
BAREHE
N 28
5 30
AR

BRI ZR

Asat 31 March 2011 R=E——F=B=+—H

2011 2010
=F——F —E-%
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHExT THIT
1,254 10
390 _
57,747 _
59,391 10
90,160 143,677
44,794 30,153
82,380 57,462
217,334 231,292
386 _
801 572
1,187 572
216,147 230,720
275,538 230,730
83,112 69,272
192,426 161,458
275,538 230,730

Chui Kwong Kau

BEXER

Executive Director

HITEE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

ARatE

de N/
/ ~ ll\l:lll\

P

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

At 1 April 2009

Loss for the year

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign
operations

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Issue of ordinary shares under
share placing

Share option cancelled/
terminated/lapsed

Capital contribution from a
minority shareholder

At 31 March 2010 and at
1 April 2010

Loss for the year

Fair value changes on
available-for-sale investments

Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations

Release of translation reserve
upon disposal of subsidiaries

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Issue of ordinary shares under
share placing

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payments

Disposal of subsidiaries

At 31 March 2011

26

KZTENERA-A

RERDEERTLER
BikiErs /&1t /55
—ROERRLE
R-E-ZE=R=1-Ak
“2-35MmA-A

FEEER
TREEREZATEED

BERNEREEY
&R*ﬁ
Tf%@

BERNEERALER
BANERAARER
DR S ATES
HERBAF

R=%--£ZR=1-8

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ARTHAARLE

Share  Investments Non-

Share Share Special options  revaluation  Translation ~ Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total

REEf

ka  BRGEE KRR BRERR fiff  BERE  ZHER A% FERER a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS" 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AR THT T AT TEr T T Thr
48152 192,99 (39,998) 8,487 - (1.243) (27182) 181210 83718 264,928
- - - - - (39,769) (39,769) (9,908) (49,677)
— — — — — 264 — 264 254 518
- - - - - 264 (39,769) (39,505) (9,654) (49,159)
21,120 06,898 - - - - - 88,018 - 88,018
- - - (3487) - - 8,487 - - -
- - - - - - - - 3543 3583
69,272 259,892 (39,998) - - (979) (58,464) 229,123 71,607 307,330
— — — — — — (8,930) (8,930) (1,030) (9,960)
— — — - (1,026) . — (1,026) — (1,026)
- - - - - 2818 - 2818 2831 5,649
- - - - - (2m9) - 2m9 - (279)
— — — — (1,026) 2,539 (8,930) (7.417) 1,801 (5,616)
13,840 29216 — - . . — 43,05 — 43,056
- - - 4,102 - - - 4,102 - 4,102
— — — - . . — — (21,974) (21974)
83,112 289,108 (39,998) 4,102 (1,026) 1,560 (67,39) 269,464 57434 326,898
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Interest expenses
Interest income
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment losses of other receivables
Amortization of leasehold land
Depreciation of fixed assets
Gain on disposal of other intangible assets
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Equity-settled share-based payments

Operating profit before changes in
working capital

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in trade and
other receivables

Increase in trade and other payables

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operations

PRC enterprise income tax paid

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Purchase of fixed assets
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets
Proceeds from disposal of other

intangible assets
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries
Purchase of available-for-sale investments

Net cash used in investing activities

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZE=

RELEERCBERE
PR AT
ER TS EELHAZE
M ERZ
FBUA
HEWMB AR ZER
EERE
H b fE U k0B 2 R E S 18
THE + s 6
ErEETE
PEEMEREE IS
HEBRTEEZER
A= REE R
LABR D AR 2 3R

T (M),

R LSRR 5 T LA B LT
B, ()

JFE <8 BR 3R B L At B A SR T A

BIEMS (i) R

[EARGC G iR

REEBRE/ () Re
FER

REREFBZRERE

BUFE

HE B & EMS R

HEE BB EEMSKA

HEME QR 2R R
BEAHHEERE

REEBRER S FR

31
16

31

/\\/T\/\EE A / ;ﬁ%%

E——E=A=+—-HIFE

2011 2010
—E——fF —=E=—=

Note(s) HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FET T
(9,879) (48,140)

683 1,047

(168) (12)

68 —

1,151 20,473

4,165 25,360

26 52

7,982 7,211

— (17)

— 218

4,102 —

8,130 6,192

(8,293) 4,356

24,053 (65,526)

28,228 14,647

52,118 (40,331)

(62) (82)

52,056 (40,413)

168 12

(9,475) (7,051)

— 136

— 862

(644) —

(58,773) —

(68,724) (6,041)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HeERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary shares
Increase in bank borrowing
Capital contribution from

a minority shareholder
Interest paid

Net cash generated from financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

28
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2011
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43,056 88,018
1,337 3,412
— 3,543
(235) (161)
44,158 94,812
27,490 48,358
72,657 24,237
(186) 62
99,961 72,657
99,961 72,657
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE INFORMATION

ZMAY Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market (“GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office
is situated at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, British West Indies.
The principal place of business in Hong Kong is situated at
Unit 902, 9/F, Wings Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road Central,
Central, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, the functional currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in (i) the sale of healthcare products in
Hong Kong; (i) the sale of electronic components in Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"); and (iii) funeral
and related business in the PRC.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations (“new
and revised HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™).

ire MR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 H#Z=E——F=A=+—HILFE

tEER
PRZEZERERAR(ARARDREFREHNS
RAVE(BER) RREMSTMRLAER2E
RAR - HRMNE BRSSP AER QA (5
TR D AIER(TRIZEMR]) £ o ARDE M
=2 7 72 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands,
British West Indies © 2N A RIE B A 2 £ 2 & ¥
BUNEEPRERAKET 110-1165KEEE
REIEI2E -

FEMBEMERARARNEEEBTITINE

ARBB—RREBBRAT - KRB REWER
Bl [ REE D) 2 T2EBRO)EBBHER
RES : (VETBRPEEEEFEME  Rii)E
REARIME ([HE D REEEERABES -

R REBIEBMBREER ([FBH
B EER )

RAFE  AEBEERBUTHEESHALE
(BB GG ) B\ 28T RASERT &R
fERT B ([#A] R ERT e Bl ) -

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009
BRI WEER (BETA) ZETDNFEBY B WELER] 2 ok

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1 (Amendments)
ERVERELERFE1FRUSETA) BRERMEZBEINGR
HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
EEVBREENE 1 (EEET) BRERAEBH KRS LER
Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters

Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions

ERUBREEANE2RETAR) KEURSEERUBRNDAERZNKZS

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations
ERYIEMELERFE IR (KIBE])  EBAH
HKFRS 5 (Amendments)

Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

BRMBREENFESKUETAR)  HEHEFRBDEERDRKRIEES

HKAS 27 (Revised)
BB GEIERIFE 27 5 (K18E]) A RIB B TRE
HKAS 32 (Amendments)

BAGEAERIE 3255 (IBETA) AR
HKAS 39 (Amendments) Eligible Hedged Items
R EGFERIFE 395k (BATA) BEREIAR

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

&5 (BRyBREREZES)
BEE175%

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18

AEEADIKIFREEE

Classification of Rights Issues

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

Transfers of Assets from Customers

5t (AR BRERELZES) REEPZEEEER
BEE 185
HK-Int 5 Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
EEREEST ERABNEREFERGRBERERZ DM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n\/T\
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2.
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has no material
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the current and prior accounting periods.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
Standards, Amendments and Interpretations that have been

issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

ERUHREEN(EFTA)

HKFRS 1 (Amendments)
BB IEMEERE 198 (BT A)
HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

BAMBRSESEURT R (EFTA)
HKFRS 9
BEVMBWRESEUE IR

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

BEAGFERIE 125 (IBFTA)

HKAS 24 (Revised)

B EEERE 2458 (K {55T)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 (Amendments)

HE (BERVBERERELZES
REE 1458 (BRI R)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19

B8 (BRVBREREZES)
BREE19%

M Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 or W

1 January 2011, as appropriate.

B MR M o

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

ERHITREEIEBUHEREELN (FEY
BmERER ) ()

RN RIS IER] BRI B EE R H AL E R
resitif kBT et SRz e UBRRME
BRYE -

AREEI MR FEA TS BME R RERZH
R REERT AR - BAT R -

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010 except for the amendments to HKFRS 3
(as revised in 2008), HKFRS 7, HKAS 1 and HKAS 28™

—EERMG BBV BRELR 2B0E - BBV HRERNFE 35
(_22/\5%%16 1) BEEPBMEERETR  BRESHERE 1] R
BB GRS 2858 2 BRI ARRIND

Limited Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters?
BRRMNEAAT BV BRSEAE T RRELBREFT2ARERE?
Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets®

BRI EEY

Financial Instruments®

MBETA®

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets®

RIERIE - WA EE®

Related Party Disclosures®

BHEBMALTZHEO

Prepayments of Minimum Funding Requirement®

BNREEZRE®

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments?

ABRA T AEEM B EE?

RZZE-—ZTFLA BT ——F—A—B@R
TERERTE) 32 12t 2 FEHR AR

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. @ RZE—ZTFLA B zERBZFERBE
e

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. ® RZZE——FLtA—BzEHABZFEHBRLE

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January @ R-T—=F—A— Bk EMEZFEHHRE
2013. e

©) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January ® RZE——F—A—BszERBzFEHRBE
2012. e

® Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January ® RZB——F—A—B 2Bz FEHBRE
2011. e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and
will be effective from 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The Standard requires all recognized financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that (i) are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows and (i) have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost.
All other debt investments and equity investments are measured
at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9 might affect the
classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised Standards, Amendments or
Interpretations will have no material impact on consolidated
financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by
HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis
except for certain financial instruments, which are measured at
fair values.

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 H#Z=E——F=A=+—HILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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B MR M o

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the period are included in the profit or loss from the
effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of
the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-
controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. Prior to 1
January 2010, losses applicable to the non-controlling
interests in excess of the non-controlling interests in the
subsidiary’s equity were allocated against the interests of
the Group except to the extent that the non-controlling
interests had a binding obligation and were able to make
an additional investment to cover the losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries on or after 1 January 2010

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. Where certain assets of
the subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or
fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity are accounted for as if the Company had directly
disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred directly to retained earnings). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly
controlled entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries prior to 1 January 2010

Increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated
in the same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries,
with goodwill or a bargain purchase gain being
recognised where appropriate. For decreases in interests
in subsidiaries, regardless of whether the disposals would
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries,
the difference between the consideration received and
the adjustment to the non-controlling interests was
recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations

Business combinations that took place on or after 1
January 2010

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 “Income taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee
benefits” respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree or the
replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment
transactions with share-based payment transactions
of the Group are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the acquisition
date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
assets held for sale and discontinued operations”
are measured in accordance with that Standard.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Business combinations (continued)

Business combinations that took place on or after 1
January 2010 (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value
or another measurement basis required by another
Standard.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and considered as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of
the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill
or gain on bargain purchase. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the measurement period
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed
one year from the acquisition date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Business combinations (continued)

Business combinations that took place on or after 1
January 2010 (continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance
with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e.
the date when the Group obtains control), and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity before the acquisition date are
reclassified to profit or loss when the Group obtains
control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would
have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Business combinations (continued)

Business combinations that took place prior to 1
January 2010

The acquisition of business was accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition was
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs
directly attributable to the business combination. The
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition were
recognized at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognized as an
asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the cost of the business combination over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized. If, after
reassessment, the Group's interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination,
the excess was recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The non-controlling interests in the acquiree were initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportion of
the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognized.

Contingent consideration was recognised, if and only if,
the contingent consideration was probable and could be
measured reliably. Subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration were recognised against the cost of the
acquisition.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted
for as separate steps. Goodwill was determined at
each step. Any additional acquisition did not affect the
previously recognised goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Group has the
power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and
operating policies, so as to obtain benefits from their
activities. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group controls
another enterprise.

Investment in subsidiaries is included in the Company’s
statement of financial position at cost less any impairment
losses, unless it is classified as held for sale. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over
the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the relevant
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Capitalised goodwill
is presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro
rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in the consolidated income statement. An
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

()

Revenue recognition

Revenue, which is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivables, is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue can be measured reliably, on the
following bases:

(i) Sales income is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed;

(i) Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount;

(i) Income arising from sales of financial instruments
is recognised on the completion of transfer of risks
and rewards of ownership to the transferee; and

(iv)  Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the statement of financial position as a
finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Leases (continued)

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis. Interest in leasehold land is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each group entity
are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional
currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial
statements, the results and financial position of each
entity are expressed in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
functional currency of the Company, and the presentation
currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual
entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are included in profit or loss for the period.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which
gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. For such
non-monetary items, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised directly in equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed
in Hong Kong dollars using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense
items (including comparatives) are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in
which case the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve. On the disposal of a foreign operation, all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the rate prevailing at the end
of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
included in the translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0]

@

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

Termination benefits are recognized when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal plan
which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Share options granted to employees are accounted for in
accordance with the policies set out in note 4(s)(i)(1).

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

@

(k)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred
taxation reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets or liabilities. Deferred tax is charged
or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.

Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Fixed assets (continued)

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of
fixed assets, after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, if any, over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The principal annual rates
are as follows:

4. FESHBEME)

(k)

Buildings

BF

Leasehold improvements 5%-10% per annum
HEEE BFE5% Z10%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Bl RELRE
Motor vehicles

E

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets or, where shorter, the term of relevant lease.

An item of fixed assets is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in the profit or
loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Construction in progress, which represents assets under
construction, is stated at cost less impairment loss, if
any. When the assets are completed and ready for use,
the carrying amount of the assets will be reclassified
to property, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the policy as set out above.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intent ion
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs, where applicable. Capitalised development costs
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
with finite useful lives are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives. Period and method of
amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance
with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with
finite lives as set out above.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of intangible
assets are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in profit or loss in the period when
the asset is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under other
standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as
revaluation decrease under other standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount under other standard, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase
under other standard.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into following specified
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments
and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets
and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees on points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets at “fair value through profit or loss”
(FVTPL)

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated
as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

o it is a part of and identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading may be designated as fair value through profit or
loss upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group'’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the
entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as fair value through profit or loss.

At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial
recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances)
are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment, except where
the receivables are interest-free loans without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. At the end of
each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition,
held-to- maturity investments are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments. At the end of
each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition,
available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the
heading of investments revaluation reserve, until the
financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is removed and recognised in profit or loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives
that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such
unquoted equity instruments, they are measured at cost
less any identified impairment losses at the end of each
reporting period subsequent to initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the investment have been affected.

For available-for-sale equity investments, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

—  default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, are assessed for impairment on an individual
basis. Objective evidence of impairment for receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments
that pass the credit period, as well as observable changes
in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate. If, in a subsequent period,
the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for similar financial assets. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods. (See the accounting policy below)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered
to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously
recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss in the period.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, unless
the effect of discounting would not be material, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including bank borrowing,
amounts due to minority shareholders of subsidiary,
amounts due to directors of subsidiaries and amounts due
to related companies of subsidiaries) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by
the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

(o)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognized in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognized and the consideration
paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.

Financial guarantees, provisions and contingent
liabilities

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.
The Group has asserted to regard financial guarantee
contracts as insurance contracts and elect to apply “HKFRS
4 Insurance Contracts” to account for such contracts. The
election applies to all existing contracts and new contracts
on a contract-by-contract basis and is irrevocable for each
contract elected.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Financial guarantees, provisions and contingent
liabilities (continued)

Present obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability
where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the
amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliably. Possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
event(s) is also disclosed as a contingent liability unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises purchase price and
direct expenses that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted-average method. Net
realizable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less all estimated expenses
to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hands, demand deposits with banks and short
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group'’s cash management.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, to control
the group or exercise significant influence over the
group on making financial and operating policy
decisions, or has joint control over the group;

(i) the group and the party are subject to common
control;

(i)  the party is an associate of the group or a joint
venture in which the group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management
personnel of the group or the group’s parent, or
close family member of such an individual, or is an
entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals;

(v)  the party is a close member of the family member
of a party referred to in (i) or is an entity under the
control, joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

(vi)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan which
is for the benefit of employees of the group or of
any entity that is a related party of the group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payment transactions
()  Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

(s)

)

)

Share options granted to employees

For share options granted to employees, the
fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share
options reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The effect of the change in estimate,
if any, is recognized in profit or loss with a
corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve.

At the time when the share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognized
in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium.

When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognized in share options reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.

Share options granted to suppliers/
consultants

For share options granted to suppliers/
consultants in exchange for goods or
services, they measured at the fair value of
the goods or serves received. The fair values
of the goods or services are recognized as
expenses immediately, unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets.
Corresponding adjustments have been made
to equity (share options reserve).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(t)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)
(i) Cash-settled share-based payment transactions

For cash-settled share-based payments, the Group
measures the goods or services acquired and the
liability incurred at the fair value of the liability.
At the end of each reporting period, the liability
is remeasured at its fair value until the liability is
settled, with any changes in fair value recognized in
profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processess, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

4.

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZE=

n\/T\

B BHRRM T

E——F=A=+-HILEE

ETRERBE(H)

(s)

Py
~+
~

URBHBER ZNRRS (H)

(i) REEERURGBERZ K
x5
?Jﬁbﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ&%ﬂx@%%%Zﬁm

F AEERABERTEN MK
,‘%iéiu”u SRS LATELEE - RER
FHIR  BEUAFEEFAEEE

BEWEE  mEMAFEZSAR

BamiER
PERE
LESHERENFEEARNRAMBHRERA
ERrEE DREBERERSBEETEE
SETEER R RTEHIERTAR
EERSITHREEABNTBER R -
RMBEHBRMS  BIESFEEBEULHE

HEREERMRBEE  AEBENE -
EPERASIER - BIED HE MR AR
B2 AN R EERIRIEE )7 ER EM :
BAERNEREEN BTG ETEE - #
ERFEREZEDEMS 1ﬁ%ﬁé it
REDRLE - RIAETEE -

57



ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED 1 RZENERBR A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
n\/T\

58

B MR M o

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are

based on historical experience and other factors, including

expectations of future events that are belived to be reasonable

under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the

future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and

assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

0]

(i)

Estimated impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount
of goodwill as at 31 March 2011 was approximately
HK$8,522,000 (31 March 2010: HK$9,286,000). More
details are given in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Estimated fair value of share options

The determination of the fair value of the share option
granted requires estimates in determining the expected
volatility of the share price, the expected dividend yield
and the risk-free interest rate for the life of the option as
stated in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
Where the outcome of the number of options that
are exercisable is different, such difference will impact
the consolidated income statement in the subsequent
remaining vesting period of the relevant share options.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE=F——F=H=1+—HLFE

6. REVENUE 6. Y 2
(@) An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year is as (@ AEBEFAZEEBINOT :
follows:

2011 2010
—E——fF —E=-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Sale of healthcare products HEREER 12,550 21,300
Sale of electronic components $HEE T EbF 18,638 —
Funeral and related businesses TREE N AR TS 48,545 53,205
79,733 74,505
(b)  An analysis of the Group's other revenue and net income by AEEBFAZEHAMUERBAFEINN
for the year is as follows: T
2011
—E——f
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET
Interest income B U A 168 12
Sundry income I A 1,976 733
Gain on disposal of other s H SR A E 2 W
intangible assets — 17
2,144 762
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. % & H
2011 2010
==2——F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Interest expense on bank and other BERAFRNBHEERITR
borrowings wholly repayable HifgBE 2 F B2
within five years 235 161
Imputed interest expense on capitalized land &AM+ E 2
lease payments HER SRS 448 886

683 1,047
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. BB ATEE
Loss before tax of the Group has been arrived at after charging: REECBRBAEESHKR TYIEIE

2011 2010
—2——-F —T-TF

HK$’000 HK$000
TERT TAET

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) B IRA(BIEEZEEHE)

— Salaries and allowances — HekE/ 9,956 13,284
— contributions to defined contributions — MR TERFCRIREF K
retirement benefits schemes 406 746
10,362 14,030
Auditors’ remuneration %A B & 380 380
Amortization of leasehold land HE s 26 52
Depreciation of fixed assets EEEETE 7,982 7,211
Loss on disposal of fixed assets HEBRTEECERE — 218
Legal and professional fees (Note) ERREXER (M) 4,211 2,818
Operating lease rentals in respect of EHAMEYFEZKEHERS
rented premises 501 499
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEZREE 45,884 35,585
Note: During the year, legal and professional fees included equity- Wt FR ERRBEEERBREAQRFRTERZ
settled share-based payments in aggregate amounts of NEm A REERUNBROAER ZHREHELD
approximately HK$4,102,000 granted to consultants of the 4,102,000 T (=5 —ZF : ) -

Company (2010: Nil).

9. INCOME TAX 9. MEH

(@) Income tax expense in the consolidated statement of (@ HEXEKERAZFAEHRLIE:
comprehensive income represents:

2011 2010
—E——fF —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAET

Current tax BNERFL TR
Hong Kong ) 18 -
PRC enterprise income tax R ZETIE TR 63 1,537
Deferred tax RIEFIA — —

81 1,537
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INCOME TAX (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements at the rate of 16.5% on
the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for
the year.

PRC enterprise income tax has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements at the rates prevailing
in the PRC on the estimated profits arising in the PRC for
the year.

No deferred tax has been recognised for the year as there
are no material temporary differences which will result in
a liability to be payable in the foreseeable future and the
stream of taxable profits which will be available to utilize
the tax losses is unpredictable.

The tax for the year can be reconciled to the accounting

loss as follows:

9.

ire MR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE=F——F=H=1+—HLFE

FriS®t ()

(a)

Loss before tax BRI R ES 1B
Notional tax on loss before tax, GRFAIERZ Z&FH

calculated at the tax rates
applicable to profits in
the jurisdictions concerned
Tax effect of expenses not deductible
and loss not allowable Db
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not
recognised

Tax effect of temporary differences not

IR RDEER
BRNEHENE

RERGARBER 2 REF

ARRERER BB E

recognised
Tax under-provided in previous year FFERBETNR2HE
Income tax charge FrigfiF 2

(&

BEMNEBRIDRFEAEIRAEEZER
Bl FI LA 16.5% Bt R WA & MBS KT 1R
B -

TECEMEHRDRFAGHRETEZ
B RR 750 it M) DA PR B R 1T 5t R AR A B 75 3R
RETHERME -

A0 R K By 2 R 5| R A B
RXMaE  BEERAABAREAEER
T LA 88 2 FE SR A AOR - R 30
PRI TR -

AEEERER AFERBENT

AAIHARR S R N AT T B 1R 2

2011 2010
—E——fF —T—FTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHBT FHTT
(9,879) (48,140)
1,909 11,582
(1,428) (252)

Lig
(562) (12,777)
— (8)
— (82)
(81) (1,537)
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

10. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
The consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2011 includes a
loss of approximately HK$6,477,000 (2010: approximately
HK$1,954,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

Reconciliation of the above amount to the Company’s loss for
the year is as follows:

10.

KATEBAEGER
BHE-_ZT——F-A-+—ALFEZAQRE
BAEGGEAEBEREERARBFBRENA
B2 EBEL6,4770008 (T —ZF 4
1,954,000 7T) °

Pl SFEARBTAFEBR 2 HERNT -

2011 2010
—_EB——£F —F—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Amount of consolidated loss attributable to ~ AARA BB BHRERRIE 2
owners of the Company dealt with in the RABHE NEGERE
Company’s financial statements EiEs R (6,477) (1,954)
Impairment losses recognised on amounts FEWHB AR FUEERZ
due from subsidiaries REBE — (29,495)
Impairment losses recognised on amounts F [0] Bt & U BT /88 1~ B FRIE RERR
due from subsidiaries written back AR 5,153 —
Company's loss for the year RRARARNFEEE (1,324) (31,449)
11. DIVIDEND 1. RE
No dividend has been paid during the year nor proposed for the REERWBRZFEMBRE - TEEZERANFE
year (2010: Nil). IRBEAEARE (ZE—2F : &) -

12. LOSS PER SHARE
The basic loss per share is calculated based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$8,930,000 (2010: approximately HK$39,769,000) and
the weighted average number of 1,874,925,864 (2010:
1,261,654,631) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2011
and 2010 has not been disclosed as the potential shares arising
from the exercise of the Company’s share options would
decrease the loss per share of the Group for these years and is
regarded as anti-dilutive.

62

12.

BREE
BREREEIRBFRARARES AELEIE
#78,930,0007 7T (= Z —Z4F : 4939,769,000 7
TL) M B BT ERAR 2 MAE TS #01,874,925,864
B (—Z—Z4F 1 1,261,654,631 ) 5TE -

BRITERARBREEE ZBERD SRR
EEEE T ——FRkZZT—ZTF=-A=+—H
IFFEZBRER  UERABREEMR i
WRERZEFE 2 BREEEE -



ANNUAL REPORT 2011 43k

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE=F——F=H=1+—HLFE

13. SEGMENT INFORMATION 13. 2EEH
The Group's operating segment information is based on REBZEEDFEMNANDRE RIKE - 2%
the internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief AP RS B E BB RRA (BIARR A EE) A
operating decision maker, Chairman of the Company, for the FEZERDERRBNATERERN - RAFE
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment N RBEEVBRELEAEH - AEE K
of the Group. During the year, the Group’s operating and ERAHMESFNT

reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(@)  Sale of healthcare products; (a) SHEREES:

(b)  Sale of electronic components; and (b)y HEFEFIHMH: R

() Funeral and related businesses. (0 FEZERMBEER-
Information regarding the above segments is reported below: BB LB ERZSMT
(a) Segment revenues and results (a) PEWRBRRFEE

Sale of Sale of Funeral

healthcare  electronic and related
products components businesses Total

HE HE BER
RiEER EFHH HBEEE #ct
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FREx FTEx Tz TEx

Revenue from external REINREP 2 W=

customers 12,550 18,638 48,545 79,733
Segments results DEEEE 1 142 1,960 2,113
Impairment of goodwill PR E (1,151) (1,151)
Impairment of other H {th R IRE

receivables (4,165) (4,165)
Unallocated corporate AOBEBUA

income 165
Unallocated corporate ROBEEERX

expenses (6,158)
Finance costs B ER (683)
Income tax PRS0 (81)
Loss for the year KEE IR (9,960)
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13. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 13. DEER(F)
(a) Segment revenues and results (continued) (a) DEWERESEE)

Sale of Funeral
healthcare and related

products businesses Total
HE BEENR

RIEE G EEE e MET

HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

T FH&TT T

Revenue from external customers REINREFE 2 Wz 21,300 53,205 74,505
Segments results DAEEE (94) 4,077 3,983
Impairment of goodwill EESEAED (20,473) (20,473)
Impairment of other receivables E b fE U R IE R B (25,360) (25,360)
Unallocated corporate income KOEEBEMRA 176
Unallocated corporate expenses RO EER X (5,419)
Finance costs B & A (1,047)
Income tax M (1,537)
Loss for the year REEZBE (49,677)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

(b)

Segment assets
Goodwill
Unallocated assets

Consolidated assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Consolidated liabilities

Capital expenditure
Unallocated capital
expenditure

Depreciation and
amortization

Unallocated depreciation
and amortization

Segment assets
Goodwill
Unallocated assets

Consolidated assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Consolidated liabilities

Capital expenditure

RAE

ire MR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE=F——F=H=1+—HLFE

13. 2EER(E)

(b) SEEERAME

Sale of Sale of
healthcare electronic
products components
$HE HE
REER B 74
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHExT
8,413 446

736 364

ADBERFX

FrEREH

ROBIFE R EH

Unallocated capital expenditure

Depreciation and amortization
Unallocated depreciation and

amortization

Sale of
healthcare
products
SHE
RIEEM
HK$'000
FET
DEAE 7,644
S —
ROAE
BAKE
NEAE 11
ROEAaE
FeaE
BARME —
RAOEERRZ
PTE KB —
ROFEITE RE

Funeral
and related
businesses
EHER
THE R
HK$°000
TERT

229,646 238,505

8,522 8,522

186,188

433,215

104,416 105,516

801

106,317

8,035 8,035

1,440

9,475

7,782 7,782

226

8,008
Funeral
and related

businesses Total

IR ,

EEE S 5T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHIT BT

315,273 322,917

9,286 9,286

87,780

419,983

112,070 112,081

572

112,653

7,040 7,040

11

7,051

7,224 7,224

39

7,263
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13. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 13. 2EERHE)
() Geographical information () HEER
The Group's sale of healthcare products is located in REBDRBEAHERRER  RAEBR
Hong Kong; the sale of electronic components is located REHEE TEME  RRFBRGEEER
in Hong Kong and the PRC and operation of funeral and R -

related businesses is located in the PRC.

The following is an analysis of the turnover and non- LT REbEE D s S X RIFRDEE
current assets by geographical area: D

Turnover by
geographical Non-current
area assets
Bt &

852 EEE *RBEE
2011 2010 2010 2010
—g——% -—T-TF —¥-——-% -ZT-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHR FT FHR T

Hong Kong BB 18,759 21,300 59,003 42
PRC Fh 60,974 53,205 118,294 160,731
79,733 74,505 177,297 160,773
(d) Information about major customers d FEEFZEH
During the years 2011 and 2010, all healthcare products RZZE——FR-ZZT-ZF  MERRE
were sold to one customer. mEET—BEP -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE=F——F=H=1+—HLFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' 14. EERTERESHFEEZHE
EMOLUMENTS
(i) Directors’ emoluments i) EE=EM£
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ENSENAARSEEZMEMT

Company’s directors are as follows:

Contributions
Salaries  to retirement

and other benefits
benefits schemes Total

E2c 54 RNEF
e Hit g7l SRR Eak
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THx TEx TER

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Chu Hon Pong REALE — 30 1 31
Mr. Lam Wing Tai MkFEEE 60 — — 60
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau BRIREE 60 - - 60

Independent Non-executive BIFHTES

Directors
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BERLE 60 — — 60
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen BEREEL 60 — — 60
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEMEE 60 — — 60

300 30 1 331
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE=F——F=H=1+—HLFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ 14. EENRTBEEFEEZME (F)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(i) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (i) E=Me#E)

68

Contributions

Salaries to retirement
and other benefits
Fees benefits schemes
ik Hf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL TAL THL
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Chu Hon Pong REREA - 1,030 n 1,041
Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia B /ME
(resigned on 30 November 2009) (RZZZAET-A=1HET) — 452 9 461
Mr. Law Kwok Chung FEBAE
(resigned on 17 November 2009) (R=ZENEF+-ATLHER) — 360 8 368
Dr. Neil Kai Gu BoAEL
(resigned on 30 November 2009) (RZEENFT-A=THEHR) — — — —
Mr. Lam Wing Tai MKREE
(appointed on 19 October 2009) (RZZENETATNBEZHE) 27 - - 27
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau ERREE
(appointed as non-executive (RZZTNETATNBEZHE
director on 19 October 2009 BIFNTESTN _STNE
and re-designated from +-A=THEERTESHT
non-executive director to RHTES)
executive director on
30 November 2009) 27 — - 2
Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Chu Kar Wing kEihE
(resigned on 20 November 2009) (R=ZENE+-A-THET) 110 — — 110
Dr. Loke Hoi Lam EamET
(resigned on 18 September 2009) (RZZENENATNBEA) 56 - — 56
Mr. Ku Ling Yu John ERELE
(resigned on 20 November 2009) (RZFTAFT-A-THER) 110 - - 110
Mr. Lok Che Chan Gilbert BEEELE
(appointed on 18 September 2009 (WZZZNFNAT/N\BEEF
and resigned on 1 January 2010) FRZZ-2E-F-BE) 34 — — 34
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BERLAE
(appointed on 20 November 2009) (R=ZENF+-A-THEZT) 2 — — 2
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen BHERT
(appointed on 20 November 2009  (R=ZEAE+-F-+EEZH) 2 — — 2
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FHlELE
(appointed on 1 January 2010) (R=Z-T5-A-REZA) 15 — — 15
423 1,842 28 2,293
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' 14. EZERTERESFEEZMS (F)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(i) Directors' emoluments (continued) (i) E=Me#E)
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group RAFER  AEBWEZNME T EMA
to any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon EEERMARE R R S| K E AR
joining the Group or as compensation for the loss of EE RESERBEBFHE(ZZ—2F
office (2010: Nil). ) o
There was no emoluments waived by any directors during FAWEEMEERENS
the year.

(ii) Five highest paid employees (i) EEBREHES
During the year, the five highest paid individuals included FN - IEEaTATEENZES(ZZ
four directors (2010: four), details of whose emoluments —ZTF UF) FEZMEFBEER EX
are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining non- Y AT HESFIFEETALTZBEIT :

director highest paid individual are as follows:

2011

—E——F - F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Salaries and other benefits Fre REAMEN 240 196
Contributions to retirement benefits RIREFET 2R

schemes — 67

240 263

Emoluments of the non-director highest paid individual(s) SEHIEEATZMEN T THEHE -

fell within the following bands:

Number of individual(s)

AE

2011 2010
—e—-5 —T-T%

HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 T T2 1,000,0008 7T 1 1
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15. FIXED ASSETS 15. EBEEEE
The Group rEE

Furiture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor Construction  Leasehold
Buildings  improvements  equipment Vehicles Total in progress [and
i %E
£ HELE kf hE g fRIR RELH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Thn TR Thm TER Thn TR T

Cost:
At 1 April 2009 79483 26,51 8490 6,209 120433 52,008 1818 174,259
Additions 6,611 - 297 - 6,908 143 — 7051
Transfer 1,121 - - - 1,121 (1,121) - -
Disposals - - (76) (365) (441) - - (441)
Bxchange adjustments B 1 7 U 17 357 146 5 508
At31 March 2010 and TE-A=1-AF
at 1 April 2010 SERA-H 8745 26,326 8,735 5861 128,378 51,176 1823 181,377
Additions 5536 - 2407 915 8,858 617 - 9475
Transfer - 14,602 — - 14,602 (14,602) - -
Disposal of subsidaries HEHEARF (5493) (14) (6,130) (2540) (14177) (36,822) (1,581) (52,580)
Exchange adjustments 3K 3,797 1415 236 10 5,658 1,067 | 6,765
At 31 March 2011 RZE--£=f=1-H 91,2% 4239 5,248 4,446 143319 1436 28 145,037
Accumulated amortization, depreciation  EifEH - FERFE
and impaiment:
At 1 April 2009 R-FENENA-B 9,783 6,962 2303 3330 2378 - 258 22,636
Charge for the year ERER 3,860 1,804 865 682 M - 5) 7263
Written back on disposal HEBER - - (32 (54) (36) - - (80)
Exchange adjustments EXAE 3 3 1 1 76 - 1 1
At 31 March 2010 and
at 1 April 2010 13,678 8,789 3143 3,99 29579 - 3N 29890
Charge for the year 4129 2545 841 467 798 - % 8,008
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries (973) 2 (2,176) (1.977) (5,128) - (19 (5,207)
Exchange adjustments 662 431 90 134 1317 - 1 1318
At 31 March 2011 W-F-—%=A=1-A 1749 11,763 1,898 2593 33,750 - 159 34,009
Net caying amount: BEFE:
At 31 March 2011 RZE--E=f=1-H 73,800 30,566 3350 1,853 109,569 1436 pi] 111,028
At 31 March 2010 W-E-EEZA=1-R 73,718 17537 5592 1892 98,799 51,176 1512 151,487
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE=F——F=H=1+—HLFE
15. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 15. BEEEE (&)
The Company ¥ NN

Furniture,
fixtures, and

equipment
B REBRRE
HK$'000
T

Cost: B
At 1 April 2009 RZZEZNFMA—H —
Additions NE 11

At 31 March 2010 and at 1 April 2010 RZE—ZTF=A=+—HRK

—E-TFMA—H 11
Additions = 1,440
At 31 March 2011 RZZE——F=A=+—H 1,451

Accumulated depreciation and impairment: 27 &RE :

At 1 April 2009 RZZEZAEMA—H —
Charge for the year FEEH 1
At 31 March 2010 and at 1 April 2010 R-_ZE—ZEF=ZA=+—HK

—ZT-TFMA—A !
Charge for the year FEEH 196
At 31 March 2011 RZF——F=A=+—H e

Net carrying amount: AREDFE -

At 31 March 2011 R-ZB-——5=ZA=+—-H 1,254
At 31 March 2010 RZZE-—ZTF=A=+—H 10
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16. GOODWILL 16. HE
2011 2010
—=2——fF =T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cost: PR
Balance at beginning of year FA) K 29,759 29,733
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR (20,473) —
Exchange adjustments b W A 407 26
Balance at end of year FARER 9,693 29,759
Accumulated impairment: HERE :
Balance at beginning of year FEEH (20,473) —
Written back on disposal of subsidiaries HERTE A 7R O] 20,473 —
Impairment recognised in the year FRERE (1,151) (20,473)
Exchange adjustments b 5, R # (20) —
Balance at end of year FRES (1,171) (20,473)
Carrying amount at end of year FAREEEE 8,522 9,286
At the end of the reporting period, the Group assessed the RIEER  REETEHEZATRBIEEE @ I
recoverable amount of goodwill and determined that goodwill BTSSR AEERERBEXB I ETHSES
associated with certain cash-generating units of the Group’s B 7R YIREIE, 151,000 T ( —E—Z4F
funeral and related business operations was impaired by 20,473,000787T) - BEERIBEER A0 £ 58
HK$1,151,000 (2010: HK$20,473,000). The recoverable T2 EGMRSEE B 8RB EEMAGHE -

amount of the funeral and related business operations was
assessed by reference to the relevant cash-generating unit's

value in use.
The carrying amount of goodwill (net of accumulated HMEEMBE(NRZRE) oRETY RS
impairment) was allocated to cash generating units as follows: EEHE AT
2011 2010
S e
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Funeral and related business operations T zE N AR SETS
— Qinhai Fuli Fenghuagshan — 5/8EAEEL 8,522 9,286
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GOODWILL (continued) 16. BB (A

For the purpose of the annual goodwill impairment test, REEHBREVANES  REEEEL 2 AT
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is EleEIORBRERAEBRNE  UHBERRERE
determined based on value-in-use calculation which uses HAEZAFHMREEMBAZRERE B
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by AFRZBERE A T AT R HEE - 1Y
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond EETgBARCELBUMEEEB 2 RBT
the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated rates HERE -

stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the business in which the cash-

generating unit operates.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations: ATEFRABERACEERR
Cash-generating unit Gross margin Growth rate Discount rate
RegLEN ER=E BRE BhEE
2011 2011 2011
—E2——-F T4 —E——F —E——F
% %
Qinhai Fuli BB
Fenghuangshan [BELLL 50 70 4 4 5 8
Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on EEENREATRENBEEMERREETEE
past performance and its expectation for market development. FEFR o BT INAEF Y E R % H B E 8
The weighted average growth rates used are consistent with — Mo FHETEIBEREFRIME WA
the forecasts in industry trends. The discount rates used are pre- T ETRE

tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.
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17. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. RMBRRAZRE

The Company

RAFE
2011 2010
—E——5F T -TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHTT
Unlisted shares, at cost IE LTS - IRA AR 40,390 40,000
Provision for impairment losses BIEE B (40,000) (40,000)
390 —
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March HREEXENEAEFEELEERATE ZAAT
2011, which materially affected the Group’s results or net FEMBRARAR-ZE——F=A=1+—HBZFB
assets, are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial BRNRA I RERMIE3T -
statements.
18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 18. TAIHEERE

The Group and the Company

AEEREAT
2011 2010
—E——5F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT

Equity investments listed in Hong Kong, REE LT ZBRARE

at fair value NI 57,747 —
The fair value of listed investments are determined on the basis THREZ AFERRERRARMEETE -

of quoted market price at the end of the reporting period.

19. INVENTORIES 19. FE
The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—=E——F T —TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Funeral products TBEEEm

— Materials and consumables — RE B m — 4,688
— Work in progress — AR — 21
— Finished goods — SR SR 41,271 43,024

41,271 47,733
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20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES 20. MEWHEQERIR

The Company

PN
2011 2010
—E——fF —E=-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Amounts due from subsidiaries N NGB 130,772 189,442
Accumulated impairment losses: REPREEE
Beginning balance FEER (45,765) (16,271)
Provided during the year FRBE — (29,494)
Written back during the year FAHEE 5,153 —
Ending balance FRERR (40,162) (45,765)
Carrying amounts BREE 90,160 143,677
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free FEMCH B A RIIE A EIER - 2 S RARERE
and repayable on demand. # o
21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. FBWERMRREMEWRRIE

The Group The Company
£33 ART
2011 2010 2011

—g——% -T-TF —¥—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT  FEx TR TER

Trade receivables FEUAR K 3,882 5,907 — —
Deposits, prepayments and A& ENEIER

other receivables (Note /) Hofth FEURIE (FY AT 1) 30,402 105,156 22,270 30,153
Promissory note receivable P 2% (FY 7 i)

(Note i) 22,524 — 22,524 —
Amounts due from minority Gl NGIR - e

shareholders of subsidiaries 2 8 (B aziii)

(Note iii) 36,180 9,977 — —
Amounts due from directors of ~ JEUHB A FE =2 78

subsidiaries (Note iii) (Bt aiii) 1,925 1,478 — —
Amounts due from related NGk NG

company of subsidiary (Note iii)) =z F38 (K aEiii) 19,773 16,302 — —

114,686 138,820 44,794 30,153

75



ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED 1 RZENERBR A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n\/T\

B BHRRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

21.

76

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group offers credit terms to its customers ranging from
cash on delivery to 90 days. The aging analysis of trade
receivables is as follows:

21. BYERRRHEEKRKIE (F)
AEERTEREPZEEMNFRERRED
B - BRERRZ BRI T

The Group The Company
rEH PN

2011 2010 2011

—g2——F —T—TF —B——F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT FExT FHET
0 - 30 days 0£30H 715 11 — —
31 -60 days 31260H 101 455 — —
Over 60 days 60 HIA 3,066 5,441 — —
3,882 5,907 — —

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables comprised
amounts receivable from sale of healthcare products. No
interest is charged on the trade receivables. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

The management of the Group has monitored the recoverable
amount of the trade debts and considers adequate impairment
is made for irrecoverable amount, if necessary. In determining
the recoverability of the trade receivable, the Group considers
any change in the credit quality of trade receivable from the
date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting
period.

At the end of the reporting period, there are no trade
receivables past due and not impaired.

Notes:

(i) Deposits, prepayments and other receivables included a deposit
amounted to approximately HK$36 million paid on 20 August
2008 relating to proposed acquisition of Zhejiang Anxing Yuan
Company Limited. Details of information was set out in the
circular of the Company dated 14 April 2008. During the year,
the Acquisition was terminated and a total of approximately
HK$16 million has been refunded up to the date of this report.
The vendor agreed to refund remaining balance of the deposit on
or before 30 June 2011.

(ii) On 4 October 2010, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interests in two subsidiaries at an aggregate consideration of
HK$22,524,308. The consideration was satisfied by the Purchaser
issuing the Promissory Note. The Promissory Note was due on
4 April 2011, interest free and secured by the entire issued
shares of the Purchaser. At the date of this report, a total of
approximately HK$20,500,000 has been received from the
Purchaser.

(iii) The amounts due from minority shareholders, directors and

related company of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and

have no fixed terms of repayment.

R|MEBR - BURRBEREEREE REK
2RI o EYWERRAET R - AR EH B A
ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁ‘fjﬁi#ﬁuu °

AEEEEBEREWRBRZATRESE IR
ERERZER AT RS EREHRE - &
FEMEMGRFR Z AT ENE R AREEEEE EX
EREEEHREREPRLEYWERZ(EEE
EREHBEMED -

RREHR - SRS SRE 2 BUHRSK -

B

e BNREREMERFERER=ZZTN
FNAZTEREZRBNILEREAREMT
AT B2 2 5T & #936,000,00058 7T o B B AF
BHRAAARBRA-ST N \ENA+NBZRE
e R ZBWBEWKLE  MEEARER
HIE ERE A $£4916,000,000/8 7T c EARER
R —FXRNAZTHRZAERER TS -

(ii) WZZE-TF+AMA- ZKEELMM:{
22,524,308 T HEE TR M B A 7 & 5K
1 o KEEMEH%%H%RxﬁﬁH°%ET
BIOYR-ZZ——&NANARE 28 RAEH
2RO BIRMOIERE - RAREBH EHD

{4 $£4920,500,000 7 7T ©

FEHTB AR D EARR - EE R QR ZHRE
TEER - RO REETERD -

(iii)
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22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 22. RERBRITHESR
Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and ReRPITEKRBEELAEEMFRE RRIEA
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three R=1E A AR 2 BEBRITFER °

months or less.

23. BANK BORROWING 23. ®RITEE
The Group The Company
REME /N
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F —_T-TF B _—_FT-FTF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET TR T T
Bank borrowing RITIEE 4,749 3,412 — —
The bank borrowing is secured by personal guarantee provided BITEETIA— 2B A TS SIS E AR
by a director of subsidiary, bearing interest at the fixed rate of VBRI - IREFEFE6.903ES - WAER+—
6.903% per annum and is repayable within twelve months. BAREE -
24. AMOUNT DUE TO A SUBSIDIARY 24. FEN—WEBQATHE
The amount due to a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and JER—RMBATZIEAEEKIR o RERET
has no fixed terms of repayment. B -
25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. FENERSREMERSE
The Group The Company
REE AN
2011 2010 2011 2010
22— —_FT-TF B _TFTF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THETT THET T
Trade payables e BR R 20,234 14,700 — —
Other payables and accruals HEM N RIEREREA 75,544 77,531 801 572
Amounts due to minority AR EPNEI G
shareholders of subsidiary 2B (KaE)
(Note) — 2,142 — —
Amounts due to directors of BB ARES
subsidiaries (Note) Z A (HiE) 4,603 3,691 — —
Amounts due to related FEAH BT 8 X B B A A
companies of subsidiaries 2 FIE(Hat)
(Note) 1,187 1,408 — —
101,568 99,472 801 572
The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 120 KEETER 2 THEERR1208 -
days.
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 25. FEFIERMRREAMENSKE(E)
The aging analysis of trade payables is as follows: FERTBRR Z BRI D ATIAT
The Group The Company
rEE NG
2011 2010 2011 2010
—g——5 -—T-TE —B——%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FABT FE T BT
0 - 30 days 0£230H 707 420 — —
— 60 days 31260H — 331 — —
Over 60 days 60 BHIA L 19,527 13,949 — —
20,234 14,700 — _
Note: The amounts due to minority shareholders, directors and related Met - BB ARDERE EEREH AR 2HIE
companies of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have THEEA - RS REETEERE -

no fixed terms of repayment.

26. LONG-TERM PAYABLES 26. RHEIEMNSFIE
The long-term payables, which were unsecured, interest-free REENFREDEER  RERANHEE ¥
and repayable by instalments, have been derecognised in the ERFALENEQRRERA BB REIUEHE
consolidated financial statements upon disposal of subsidiaries R e

during the year.
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DEFERRED TAX
The Group's major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) not recognised
are analysed below:

27.

ire MR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE=F——F=H=1+—HLFE

EIEBIR
AN REREERERALE /(A1) DI
m

Property,
plant and
equipment

Unused tax
losses Total
REAZ
HIEEE
HK$'000
FAT

e
HK$'000
TAT

W5 R
HK$'000
TAT

At 1 April 2009 R-ZETAFMA—H 11 2,350 2,361
Net change in deferred tax assets/ ARF[E R BRI T8

(liabilities) not recognised for the year BE/ (BE)2EE)FHE (7) 6,607 6,600
At 31 March 2010 and at 1 April 2010 WZZE—TF=H=+—H

hZ_T—-ZFHHA—H 4 8,957 8,961

Net change in deferred tax assets/ AN JE AR RERE T 1

(liabilities) not recognised for the year BE/(BFE) &8 %58 (4) 531 527
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries HEKTE R B 3 — (1,627) (1,627)
At 31 March 2011 R-E——F=A=+—H — 7,861 7,861

The Company has no significant deferred tax assets or liabilities
not recognized at 31 March 2011 (2010: Nil).

R=B——F=A=+—0  ARABEEAY
AMREABLHAEEREE(ZF—FF
") -

79



ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED 1 RZENERBR A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BHRRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

n\/T\

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. W&
Number of
Amount
k-l
HK$'000

TFET

shares

BHBE
‘000

TR

Authorised (ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each) A7 (G EE0.0478 L2 Ei@%)

80

At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010 and 2011 RZZFZENFMA—H  ——FF
r—E——F=A=1+—H 5,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid (ordinary shares of BT MR (FREE0.048 T
HK$0.04 each): 2 EBAR)
At 1 April 2009 RZZEZNFMHA—H 1,203,786 48,152
Issue of new shares under share placing RIEIRD ECE BRI THIRMD
(note a) (Kiita) 240,000 9,600
Issue of new shares under share placing RIBERMDEESZRITHRMD
(note b) (K17Thb) 288,000 11,520
At 31 March 2010 and at 1 April 2010 R-ZE—FF=ZA=+—HK
—E-ZFMA—H 1,731,786 69,272
Issue of new shares under share placing RIEIRD ECE BRI THIRMD
(note c) (KtaEc) 346,000 13,840
At 31 March 2011 R-E——F=A=+—H 2,077,786 83,112

Notes:

(a)

On 6 January 2010, 240,000,000 shares of the Company were
issued to placees at a total consideration of HK$44,400,000, of
which HK$9,600,000 was credited to share capital account and
the net balance after expenses of HK$33,615,000 was credited
to share premium account.

On 30 March 2010, 288,000,000 shares of the Company were
issued to placees at a total consideration of HK$46,080,000, of
which HK$11,520,000 was credited to share capital account and
the net balance after expenses of HK$33,283,000 was credited
to share premium account.

On 1 November 2010, 346,000,000 shares of the Company were
issued to placees at a total consideration of HK$44,288,000, of
which HK$13,840,000 was credited to share capital account and
the net balance after expenses of HK$29,216,000 was credited
to share premium account.

et -

(a)

W=ZZT—Z4— A/XE * 240,000,000 & A& 2 7]
%19 LA 48X {8 44,400,000 8 21T FRELA - H
719,600,000 L E T ARARR - MINKRAZ %
2 4ERRFEE33,615,000/8 S0 RIE AT ABRIDIEERE -

WZ=ZT—FF=HF=+H 288,000,000 A& A
A)f& {7 LA 42 X & 46,080,000 8 T2 1T &L A -
H 11,520,000 B 7 EET ARRAER - MHNERFI =

1% 2 #5558 33,283,000 78 7T Il 2 5T A B AD 3 B
EEQ
RZZT—Z&F+—H—H - 346,000,000 & A

A HE 19 LAAR A (& 44,288,000 8 LB 1T T &L A -
H 13,840,000 B L EFT ARRANER - M0 FI =2
1% 2 87 F 529,216,000 8 L BIE 5T AR D 5 (B
EE o



29.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 43k

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 4 August 2010
and the Stock Exchange granting approval of the listing of

and permission to deal in the Shares to be issued under the
Share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme B”) on 17
November 2010, the Company has adopted the Share Option
Scheme B to replace the share option scheme adopted on 1
February 2002 (the “Share Option Scheme A").

(a)

Share Option Scheme A

The Company’s Share Option Scheme A was approved
on 1 February 2002 pursuant to a written resolution of
the Company. The purpose of the Scheme is to enable
the Company to grant options to selected individuals
to subscribe for shares in the Company as incentives or
rewards for their contributions to the Group. The Board
may, at its discretion, invite any full-time or part-time
employee of the Company or any member of the Group,
including any director of any member of the Group and
any advisor or consultant (in areas of technical, financial
or corporate managerial) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries to take up options to subscribe for the shares
in the Company for a consideration of HK$1 per each lot
of share options granted.

The Share Option Scheme A was terminated on 17
November 2010. No further options will be granted
thereunder, but the provisions of the Scheme will
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to
give effect to the exercise of the Options granted prior
to its termination or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the Scheme. The option
period shall not be less than 3 years and shall not exceed
10 years from the date of acceptance of option. There
is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised. HK$1 is payable on acceptance
of an option within 28 days from the date of grant.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme A must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue
unless approval from the Company’s shareholders has
been obtained. The total number of shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each individual in any twelve-month period up
to and including the date of grant shall not exceed 1%
of the shares in issue at the date of grant unless approval
from Company’s shareholders has been obtained.

29.

B BHRRM T
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/T\

FRIRRERT &

BRER-T-FF N \ANBRTZARBRRE

FRERBZ —HEBRER

AR FEBE X PTIA

—E-ZEFET AT EAREREBBRESS
((BRESFBz DB THRTZENDETREEZ
BRT  ARRERABRMES S AR =
TR F - A BRMNZ BT (AR ES
BR) -

(a)

BRI

ARBBEEASTFR BT _F_A—
BRBEARR —BEDRERESIE -
HEUEEBALRMEHREALREAR
BARARN ZBRE FRARSHAEK
BFrEER 2 Rk EH - EF=G A HIF
BEARARANEEEMRKE QR ZEM
2RRFBES  BEAKEEAKER
Al Z EAEERAR RS EEMNE R A

Z AR A A (Bl - Bk
XTREE)  NEMTREARARARNDZ

B SHAROBREZRERIET -

HEREAEFER-_ZE—ZF+—HA+t
AELIE - BE BRI E PRI ERE -
FEIZEXMAET RN RE2EANR -
LASRIERT# I 2 B AR M A] T AT AT & 3k
AIREE G 2 M EITEE RIR - BER
AR EMNERER BB TEIR=
FRMGHEATF - HERTERERT
FRIBERFB 2 &R R - BEREREER
BB EEET 28 AN 1B T

BEERETETAIRE 2 BRERS
ERMNDBHEEFTTEBADETRMN
10% @ ESES AR BRI EERR I -
REBEEREBEH(BEZA) EERA+Z@
AEBAR SR ATEL REEL 2 ER
RERITERE BT RS TRITZRMBE

TMEEBRKEEH B ZEB8TRG 1% © 1
BEES AR B IR RS EERRID o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=E——F=A=+—HILEE

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (continued)

(a)

(b)

Share Option Scheme A (continued)

Options may be exercised at any time during the specified
option period. The exercise price shall be determined by
the directors of the Company, and shall be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated on GEM'’s daily quotation sheets on the date
of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company's shares.

Share Option Scheme B

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme B is to enable
the Company to provide incentive to participants with
the opportunity of participating in the growth of the
Company by acquiring shares in the Company and may,
in turn, assist in the attraction and retention of talents
who have made contributions to the success of the
Company.

Given that the Share Option Scheme A will expire
shortly on 14 January 2012 (in around two years time),
the Directors considered that it is in the interest of
the Company to adopt the Share Option Scheme B in
compliance with Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules to
replace the old scheme.

The option period shall not be less than 3 years and shall
not exceed 10 years from the date of acceptance of
option. There is no minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised. HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of an option within 28 days from the date
of grant.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under both Share Option Schemes involving the issue
or grant of options must not exceed 30% of the Company’s
shares in issue from time to time.

29.

BB S8 ()

(a)

(b)

RIEM

IBRESTER (E)
5%%%75’\?5*5%%%%@W[@Eﬁﬁﬁ °
FEABRAA 7%?%% CWELART
5']:%@32 D) AR AR D PR
HHATE Al %T&llﬂ#ﬁ EE%ZWZHSZFHF (ii)
ARABRNDREERL BB AEZ%H
ZFEHWHIE - R (i) AR RO EE -

BREEZ
BREMECEESARRBUARSESE
RUEESEBRBARRKROMOZEAR
AlZBRRER  RMAMRRSI REEY
KRB ZENEHERZ AT -

R TR =2 —=F—F
+mB(WAEER) B - EFRALE
BIIR £ ARAIE 23 B AN R B
DABR (% BERRIR AT 81T AR A RIFI3S -

PO RE AT P B A B RORE B R REET NS
R=EZFRAEBETF  SERCERE
RITER AR A 2 REHIR - ENERE
EREE BT 28 AR 1B

18 R B 17 2k % H B A 2 B S i = 81 A

BHEBRITERZME MARTTEERERITER
AREBETZRNBEER LR TNSEBARTN
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (continued) 29.
Details of the share options granted by the Company during the
year are as follows:

SRR & ()
RARRERE N Z BREFBNT

Share Number of
options share options

scheme Date of grant Exercise period granted

BhRE
itE REAH

THRESE

A 26 April 2010 26 April 2010 to

Closing
share price
immediately
Fair value at before the
Exercise price grant date  date of grant
R R
R Rt A A
RuBRERE fTEE BHZAVE 2T E
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
120,376,000 0.2760 0.0743 0.241
25 April 2013
& “Z-ZFWAZ+RH “Z-ZEMA-TRBE
“Z-=fWA=+hH
B 18 November 2010 18 November 2010 to 173,000,000 0.1670 0.0466 0.153
17 November 2013
Z “E-ZF+—-A+NH I R VACES

“E-=F+—-A++tH

The fair value of the share options granted of HK$4,102,000
was recognized as share option expense during the year.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the
year was estimated as at the date of grant, using the Binomial
Option Pricing Model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the share options were granted. The

significant inputs into the Model were as follows:

FRETE D EREZ AFE4,102,000 B LB HER
BRRERY -

FAREAER AN EE 2 BREQATERRE
HEIA AR EBRA G - BEhEZSEX
B AR 2 IR R AR - IR E 2R ABRNA
T

Scheme A B
E A Z
Share Price (HK$) as at the date of grant RIEFHBEEZRECET) 0.241 0.153
Exercise Price (HK$) 1TfEE (BT 0.276 0.167
Expected volatility TE BRI 18 103.56% 94.013%
Risk-free interest rate £ i 6 = 1.255% 0.716%
Life of option i i e £F B 3 years F 3 years &

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other feature of the share
options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair
value.

TEHRR R S R SEOR IR T TR AR B S 2 Rk
BRI —ERERER - AR LB &
HSEet AR TFEZES -
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29. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (continued) 29. [EBRRRERTEI(AE)
Details of the Company’s share options outstanding under share FRARRAAERETEIE T WRITERRERE
option scheme during the year are as follows: BT

Number of
share options Number of
outstanding Cancelled/ share options
Share atthe Granted Exercised  terminated Lapsed outstanding
options Exercise beginning during during during during  attheend

scheme  Date of grant price of the year the year the year the year theyear  of the year
BhE ENERTE R/ EREARTE
it 8l RiLAH ke ZBREHR FRRH ERR gE  FREM 2BREZA

2011
“E--F
Consultants A 26/04/2010 0.276 — 120,376,000 - - — 120,376,000
B B —Z-%F
WE=+7H
Consultants B 18/1172010 0.167 — 173,000,000 - - — 173,000,000
B Z —T-%F
T-AT/N\H
— 293,376,000 - - — 293,376,000
2010
—Z-%F
Directors A 16/11/2007 1.1 7,500,000 — — — (7,500,000) —
53 H S 3
T-A+~H
Employees A 16/11/2007 11 7,500,000 - — — (7,500,000 -
3 B e
T—AT/A
Consultants A 16/11/2007 1.1 75,000,000 — — (75,000,000 — —
B H 38 3
t-At%A
90,000,000 - — (75,000,000)  (15,000,000) —
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30. RESERVES 30. f&fE
(a) The Group (a) A£HE
Investments
Share Special  revaluation  Translation Share-options  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
R EE KHRE REERRE BERE  BRERE RiER a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT ThT B TBL B TET THT
At 1 April 2009 RZZENERA-A 192,994 (39,998) — (1,243) 8,487 (27182) 133,058
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - (39,769) (39,769)
Exchange difference arisng 48180\ 217 EX 28
on translation of foreign
operations — — - 264 — - 264
Total comprehensive income ~ REF2HNKEE
for the year — - — 264 - (39,769) (39,505)
Issue of ordinary shares under  RERAEERTERR
share placing 66,898 - — — - — 66,898
Transfers upon share options ~ REERRIEE 3,/ 81F/
cancelled/terminated/apsed  KiEEE — — — — (8,487 8,487 —

At 31 March 2010 and RZZ-FF=f=1-H

at 1 April 2010 259,892 (39,998) - (979) - (58,464) 160,451
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - (8,930) (8,930)
Fair value changes on ARBEREL

avalable-for-sale investments A FEE - - (1,026) - - - (1,026)
Exchange difference arising on  EES £V EX B

translation of foreign

operations — - — 2,818 — - 2818
Release of translation reserve i &[T B L AIBEE

upon disposal of subsidiaries B E R - - - (279) - - (279)
Total comprehensive income  REE2ANZER

for the year - - (1,026) 2,539 - (8,930) (7.817)
Issue of ordinary shares under  RER M EEHIT

share placing LRk 29,216 - - - - - 29,216
Recognition of equity-settled ~ HEF2L\ER A E]

share-based payments IWRHBER R - - - - 4,102 - 4102
At 31 March 2011 R-B--FE=f=+-H 289,108 (39,998) (1,026) 1,560 4,102 (67,394) 186,352
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30. RESERVES (continued) 30. f#&fE (&)
(b) The Company (b) ZA&AIQF
Investments Share
Share revaluation options Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
ROEE REERRE BRERE L k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THL AL THL THL
At 1 April 2009 RZEENEFNA—H 192,994 - 8,487 (75,472) 126,009
Loss for the year TEEBE — — — (31,449) (31,449)
Issue of ordinary shares under — RIERH B &7
share placing L@k 66,398 — — — 66,898
Transfers upon share options REREEE
cancelled/terminated/lapsed W\ E /R g — — (8,487) 8,487 —
At 31 March 2010 and RZE-TF=A=+—H
at 1 April 2010 LZE-TFNA—H 259,892 - - (98,434) 161,458
Loss for the year TEEBE - - - (1.324) (1.324)
Fair value changes on HREERE AT EE
available-for-sale investments - (1,026) - - (1,026)
Total comprehensive income AEE2AKRGLEE
for the year — (1,026) — (1,324) (2,350)
Issue of ordinary shares under R IERR D B E%1T
share placing L@k 29,216 — — — 29,216
Recognition of equity-settled BRI AEE
share-based payments AR BT 2 50 - - 4,102 — 4,102
At 31 March 2011 R-Z2--£=ZA=+-H 289,108 (1,026) 4,102 (99,758) 192,426
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30. RESERVES (continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves

(c)

(d)

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

v)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is
available for paying distributions or dividends
to shareholders subject to the provisions of its
Memorandum or Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution
or dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares
of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition
at the time of the group reorganisation prior to the
listing of the Company’s shares in 2002.

Investments revaluation reserve

The investments revaluation reserve represents
accumulated gains and losses arising on the
revaluation of available-for-sale investments that
have been recognised in other comprehensive
income, net of amounts reclassified to profit or
loss when those investments are disposed of or are
determined to be impaired.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 4(g).

Share option reserve

The share options reserve represents the fair
value of the number of unexercised share options
granted by the Company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for equity-
settled share-based payments in note 4(s)(i).

Distributability of reserves
In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Company’s reserves available for distribution

to shareholders as at 31 March 2011 amount

to

approximately HK$188,324,000 (2010:

HK$161,458,000).

30.
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/T\

% ()
() REMEERAR
() Rip@E
BERASESATEEEEET) AR
7] 0] LARR A7 5 (& 171 AR 3R 43T =k S A+ A%

B AT ARREESEZAML
MRz 53 - AR FEARRRNERE
DR SAS R BIL - AN EER
BEEBKBREDIEMNES - Sk
HD RS

AR
REEZFHRBERAARRNR
TR _F IWAIEREESHEMEE
B 2 R At BRI E B A A B st U
PRETIRNEEEMERZZHE -

(ii)

REEHFH

REEGHFBEREHENEMEE
WantER c A HEREMEE 2 R
SHEE  MBZEREFHE LR
RORERNEFRDBERBZIEH -

(iii)

BHERRERBRERIIEBI BRE
EEZMBENEZE - ZRBTIRE
Pt 4() P& AT BRI IR

(iv)

BRIEFR
E%%ﬁéﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁzﬁ’&ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬂiﬁﬁ
BIRRR Z AFE - RIEMEAG)
?Jﬁbﬂfééﬁﬁi*“&uﬂxfﬁi%%%z
R TERAN 2 & ET IR TR -

v)

(d) FItDIREE
RRREERE m:
=+—8  ARRAHS
BB 188,324,000/% <
161,458,000/87T) °

—F=
& T %Zfﬁ
T-FF:
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31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 31. HEWBALATF
On 4 October 2010, the Group disposed of its entire equity RZZE—TETANB AEBHEERBR
interest in two subsidiaries, namely Xinjiang Ruilin Zhiye MEAAFERNEEROERRAIALAR
Company Limited and Neimenggu Shenghe Development HERMEEAREAAREZHRE  BRER
Limited, at a total consideration of HK$22,524,308. Details 22,524,308 - BRALENB AR ZFBHA
of disposal of subsidiaries are set out in the Company’s AREBAE-T—ZFNAZTHBZ AW
announcement dated 24 September 2010. An analysis of the FHEmMES 2MBEZESTNAT

financial effects arising on the disposal is as follows:

Xinjiang  Neimenggu
Ruilin Zhiye Shenghe
Company Development

Limited Limited
A=
FERMEXE BRAR
ROBRAR EEAF gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT T T
Net assets disposed of: Pt E & EF5
Fixed assets EEEE 42,656 4,718 47,374
Inventories 75 8,643 6,113 14,756
Trade and other receivables JRE M5 B R % L A JE s kIR 18,358 83 18,441
Cash and bank balances Be RIBITHEH 243 401 644
Trade and other payables & A1 B R e L Ath JE A< 3R IE (20,506) (6,270) (26,776)
Long-term payables RHIFE IR (9,594) — (9,594)
39,800 5,045 44,845
Non-controlling interests FEE IR R (19,502) (2,472) (21,974)
Release of translation reserve upon HEWNB AR RE DR EZE
disposal of subsidiaries (254) (25) (279)
(Loss)/gain on disposal HE(EBE) WEs (91) 23 (68)
Total consideration, satisfied by: BRE UTIFALZ
Promissory note (Note 21 note (ii)) AR (15T 21 3T (i) 19,953 2,571 22,524
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: RHEEEEZRE R FHE
Cash and bank balances disposed of FTH &R & RIRTTHE R (243) (401) (644)
The subsidiaries disposed of during the year were engaged FRHEZMBARNEBRERBEES - 8
in funeral and related business and had contributed turnover EHEAMRAEETREXEREBEES L
of approximately HK$7,170,000 and loss of approximately 7,170,000 8 7T }2# 122,000 B 7T

HK$122,000 to the Group up to the date of disposal.
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COMMITMENTS

(i) Operating lease commitment
As at 31 March 2011, the Group had commitments
payable under non-cancellable operating leases in respect
of rented premises as follows:

Within one year —FNRN
In the second to fifth years, inclusive EEERF
(BEEREMT)

(ii) Capital commitment

As at 31 March 2011, there was no capital commitments
outstanding in the financial statements. (2010:
approximately HK$88,319,000 in respect of acquisition of

a subsidiary).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. The Group and its
employees are each required to make monthly contributions
at 5% of relevant payroll costs or HK$1,000, whichever is
the lower, to the scheme. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the local government. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

32,

33.

ire MR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE=F——F=H=1+—HLFE

i

() KEHERE
R-B——F=A=+—H AEHRE
ARG EHER B EM R RN 2 AR

LU
The Group and
the Company
AEBERAERDF]
2011 2010
g% —T—TfF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR THT
204 —
136 —
340 —
(i) EFREE
NZZE——F=A=+—8 HBRRNA
WERANRENZEREE(ZS—ZF : 5t
U — P88 2 7149 88,319,000 8 7T ) °
RINEREE

AEBBMBEEEAKRREEL2MAFIMATES
(l8Ee Detdl - B 2EENBRAEEZE
ENHFBE  TERRBEITALHZESR -
AEEREESEEAKRABT ©.25% 31,000
T (ABIEE B2%E) Mt EE LR - AEER
ERRESF A EAEARBREEGMETE

TR -
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33.

34.

20

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the total contributions
made by the Group to the retirement benefit schemes and
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income amounted to approximately HK$406,000 (2010:
HK$746,000).

As at 31 March 2011, there were no forfeited contributions
available for the Group to offset contributions payable in future
years (2010: Nil).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-
sale investments, bank balances, trade and other receivables,
trade and other payables and bank borrowing. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(@) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets MEEE
Available-for-sale investments AEIHERE
Loan and receivables B M ERFIE

— Trade and other receivables
— Cash and bank balances

MBaE

Financial liabilities

— Bank borrowing — RITIEE
— Trade and other payables
— Long-term payables

34.

— R R LA R
— RE RIRTTREER

— BN E R RN FRIE
— REIEN IR

ERBAETE ()

ﬁ —E——F=ZA=1+—BIFE AEEHFA
RIRAE I FTEIVE H K& $£49 406,000 T (=2
—Z4F : 746,000/ 7T) * WERGZA A KER
kR o

RZB——F=ZA=+—0B AEELEAEKH
ARRFERNHERZERRER(ZT—FF:
&) -

BMiETA
AEEZTEVBTABRBAIHREERE  RT
R RUOR R E MU - BRI E
N RIBARIRITEE - ZEMBTAZFE
REMEHRE - BZSMHETARRZEAR RN
MR EZERE 2 BEHINMT - EBEEIER
B LR\ (g ARE R BN AT B AU SREUE 2 8 7E

(a) HIBTEER

2011
—E——F

HK$°000
FTEx

HK$'000
TAT

57,747 —
114,686 138,820
99,961 72,657
272,394 211,477
4,749 3,412
101,568 99,472
— 9,769
106,317 112,653
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Market risk

(b)

(i)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk arises when future
commercial transactions and recognized assets
and liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the Group’s functional currency. The
foreign exchange risk of the Group occurred due
to the fact that the Group’s had business activities
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group's
business activities are primarily exposed to foreign
exchange risk in respect of Renminbi (“RMB")
against Hong Kong Dollar. The net assets/liabilities
of certain investments of the Group in the PRC are
exposed to foreign currency translation risk. The
management continuously monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
foreign currency risk should need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s significant
foreign currency denominated monetary assets
and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

ARE

Renminbi

ire MR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE=F——F=H=1+—HLFE

34. BIBIAE)
(b) TIEEK
() SMNEE R

Assets
BE
2011

—E——fF
HK$°000
TExT

78,603

—2-ZF
HK$'000

116,095

SMERBB N ARREER S REERE
ENBBEAREENEEEUINEE
AHEREL - AEBEBEASNESHE
ZERBAEZINER R - NEEFERE
EHMHBEARE(TARBD BT
BRI ZNE R - REBERTEES
RECEE ABEFREARZINER
Rk o BEREREERINERR
WA HEEE B HINERER -

MBEMR - REBNUINEHEZE
REBEBEREEAEREENT

Liabilities

=N
2011
—E——fF
HK$'000
TFE T

2010

HK$'000
THET TAET

104,416 102,301
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. BT A (E)
(b) Market risk (continued) (b) TWBER(E)
(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued) ()  SrEERR (E)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis SINE B E 5T

The Group is mainly exposed to the effect of
fluctuation in Renminbi. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in the functional currency exchange
rates of the company against the Renminbi. 5%
is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency
exchange rates. A positive number below indicates
a decrease in loss for the year where the functional
currencies of the Group strengthen 5% against
Renminbi. For a 5% weakening of the functional
currencies of the Group against the Renminbi, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the
loss, and the balances below would be negative.

AEET2EH ARBRES KL
& TRANAKBHARRIRER
BEEXEARBETEREZES% 28
RE 5% RATEEEABNEE
WIMNERR I FTRBURELLL X - RBR
EIEEHERTEER 2B E
PRV o SURRE DI B8 M R H %
ZINEFHEBRIER - WiRIMNEER
Z5% HHNEHEAAREHHTE -
AN EBE RN AR Z BN
ARETES%  AIRFEBE/S
B - MAREENEEELAREE
B5% @ B EERREMmER 27
& NTHEBRITeRAsa-

Effect on loss of
the year end and
accumulated losses
HELABBER
RHERZVE

2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$000 HK$'000
FTExT AT

Effect on equity

HRA 2 &

2011
———&
HK$°000
THET

HK$'000
TAT

Renminbi AR (1,291) 690 (1,291) 690
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(b)

(ii)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates
primarily to bank balances. The management
considers the Group's exposure of bank balances to
interest rate risk is not significant as they have short
maturity period.

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rate risk at
the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of variable-rate
bank balances at the end of the reporting period
was the amount outstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates had been 50 basis point higher/
lower and all other variable were held constant,
the Group's loss for the year ended 31 March 2011
would decrease/increase by HK$472,000 (decrease/
increase by 2010: HK$352,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk on its variable-rate bank balances.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments in equity securities classified as
available-for-sale investments. The Group's price
risk is mainly concentrated on equity securities
listed in Hong Kong. The management monitors
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risk at the end of the reporting period.

As 31 March 2011,
of equity securities listed in Hong Kong had
been increased/decreased by 5%, the Group’s
investments revaluation reserve would have

if the quoted market prices

been increased/decreased by approximately
HK$2,887,000 (2010: Nil).

34,

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZE=

n\/T\

B BHRRM T

E——F=A=+-HILEE

BT A (HF)
(b) TWiHEK(F)
(i) FIFEER

(i)

AEEBRSINENRER T EERTT

HHEE - BEERRAEERRT
BEEE 2 N REREN - REAE

BRI IE BRE A -

T3 i R RS 5T

AN SRR E AT THIR IR 45 HIRE
2 NEERMRER o ZDOMERER
HREHRRZFBRITHEBR/EFAR
EESHEMRE -

it %5 = _EF+/7F % 50 18 & 25 i BT
BEMEBHBEFTE  AEEHREC
T——F=ZA=+—HILFEZEIE
#E LHEAN472,0008 T (ZF —
T R 48 401352,000% T) ¢
FEHRNAE B AT S RITHERE
SZIEREMN KRR -

1E15 2 e
REEGRESEAIHEERE 2R
RBEHAZBRABEER - AEBEE
BERBEZERREE LMRAE
%o BREERERRE - WHERNE
ﬁ%%ﬂﬁ%%%ﬁﬂfﬁ%ﬂ B o

BRAMNEIE GURZ T
VAT SURE 54T TR B3R 5 HA R P
ERAERRR MRS

R-ZE——F=ZfF=+—8" #3&
7 E TR AR B A BT R T E R A0
D5% 0 AR EE G B R E S
in A 492,887,000 TT(— & —
T ) -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to perform an obligation by the counterparties, is the
carrying amount of respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group's exposure to credit risk on trade and
other receivables is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather than industry in
which the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
concentration of credit risk as over 90% (2010: over
90%) of the total trade receivables was due from 1 (2010:
1) major customer which had no history of default.
The Group has policies and place for the control and
monitoring of such credit risk.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because all the
Group’s bank deposits are deposited placed with major
banks in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management regularly
reviews its major funding positions to ensure that it has
adequate financial resources in meeting its financial
obligations.

34,

BT A (&)

(0 FERR
A8 FRERTEEMSARERR
UBREZED QAH&EXEQSMF
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. HMEIA(E)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) d) #"EBELERE)
The table below analysis the Group’s and the Company’s TRETAEBRARAFAESHRE R
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based ZENEEBE I 2 F A BRREIZEEEIEE
on the remaining period at the end of each reporting REID 2 BREI T - EXRAEBEZ S
period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts BRAEVNABBRBESRE - TREEMNX
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted EARGHEME -
cash flows. The tables include both interest and principal
cash flows.
The Group rEE
Total
On demand Total carrying
or less than More than  undiscounted amount at
3 months 1year  cash flows 31.3.201
R=B——%
RERS, KR =A=t-H
HSR={EA BB-F HEREAR ZEHAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL j TAL TAL Tz
Bank borrowing BITfEE - 4,913 - 4,913 4,749
Trade and other payables FERTBR TR R ELpt B 508 101,568 - - 101,568 101,568
Total Bt 101,568 4913 - 106,481 106,317

Total

On demand Total carrying
or less than 3 months More than  undiscounted amount at
3 months to 1 year 1 year cash flows 31.3.2010

7

=

BA =EAZ-% BA-F B ;
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAL TAL TAL TATL TATL
Bank borrowing RITEE — 3,530 — 3,530 3412
Trade and other payables R B BB 58 99,472 — — 99,472 99,472
Long-term payables REEAFE — - 26,307 26,307 9,769
Total st 99,472 3,530 26,307 129,309 112,653
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e)

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

o The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active markets are determined with
reference to the quoted market bid and ask prices
respectively; and

o The fair values of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the
financial statements approximate their fair values.

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based
on degree to which the fair value is observable:

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

34,
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. HMEIA(E)
(e) Fair value of financial instruments (continued) (e) MBIAZAFE(A)
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from FE=ZRATFEFETDIREFT AL IEREA
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or BETSLEB 2 EES A RN AE (B
liability that are not based on observable market data R2BAE) 2 HERMEE -

(unobservable inputs).

The Group and the Company
FEBRAAT
2011
—E——F

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B et 1 E=# E— -t 4 BE=M
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THET THET THT FHT FHT

Available-for-sale AEEERE
investments:
Equity securities RNEE L+
listed in Hong Kong Zﬁx$u * 57,747 — — — — —
There were no transfers among the 3 Levels in both years. RREFE - = @R 2B EEE -
35. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 35. BEXERE
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard REBEREAZ BERRERNEBEEIRSE
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order BEAEEE 7887 - LA R R0 7R & A& H b F)
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other AR S RN i e R AR RS SR R £BI 3R, -

stakeholders and to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes RNEBIRBELBERR REEEE ZRBRF-ER
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions &Eﬂ”éﬁ 8 - RERRFABRERER K&
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to EEARY N FREZRESE - MRKERE
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust §$ CBITHRO S EEENRDER - #E
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital TE—ERCE-TE=A=+—HILEFE
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. WHEREHEERE  BERREFIELE

No changes were made in the objectives, policies and process
during the years end 31 March 2011 and 2010.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio, which AEEREEABLER(REABRUBEER
is calculated as total liabilities over total assets. The Group's H)ERERRET o $EIZ%W%?’E%’§?E &
strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a satisfactory level. LR E 2 KT o i——i A=+—H
The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2011 was 25% (2010: 27%). Zé?%t\ttfﬁz.%% (ZZ—ZF :27%) °
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BEBALRES
Balances and transactions between the Company and its RAREEMBAR(HAXRARZBBEAL)
subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have MzERERSGERGERARLEHE B TgR
been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this RHIEAREE -
note.
Compensation of key management personnel FEEBEASZHME
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key FR EFREMFTEEEABZMENT ¢

management during the year was as follows:

2011 2010
—g——F —T-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FH THT
Short-term benefits EHEIEF 570 2,543
Post-employment benefits B & 1 T 1 28
571 2,571
37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. XEMEBARFEE
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 RZE——F=ZA=+—0 ARFIZEEMNE
March 2011 are as follows: NRFEET
Proportion of
nominal value of
Issue and issued capital/
Place of incorporation/ paid up capital/ registered capital
Name of Company operation Form of legal entity registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRIR KARFRERITRE/
AAER SRR/ EEY EERREA BRRA/ERRA ERRAREEIL TEER
Directly  Indirectly
EH 584
New Chinese Medicine (BVI) Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ Limited liability company ~ Ordinary US$200 100% — Investment holding (Hong Kong)
RERAES BREERF LER200%TT RARR(FE)
New Chinese Medicine Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding and provision of
MEEBRAR i BREEAR L@ 10,0007 secretarial services (Hong Kong)

RERRLEANERS(BR)

NCM Group (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands  Limited liability company ~ Ordinary US$1 100% — Investment holding (Hong Kong)
RERUES BREERF EER1ET RARR(FE)
NCM Healthcare Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary HK$2 - 100% Trading of healthcare products
MEERRERAT i BREEAR Lak2#T {Hong Kong)
REERES(BE)
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZE=

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. XEMEATFE (HF)
Proportion of
nominal value of
Issue and issued capital/
Place of incorporation/ paid up capital/ registered capital
Name of Company operation Form of legal entity registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRTR ARAFRBCRTRE/
NRER SRR/ EEpY EERRPA HRRA/ERRA  EIMBRAREESL EEER
Directly  Indirectly
HE ik
NCM Healthcare (HK) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary HK$2 - 100% Trading of healthcare products
TEERE(FE)ARAR i BREEAF L@k {Hong Kong)
REERES(BE)
Asia Honest (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
HF (BB ERAR i BRELAR Lak BT RERR
Metropolitian Global Trading British Virgin Islands ~ Limited liability company ~ Ordinary US§50,000 100% — Sale of electronic components
Limited EERUHS BRELAR LiBR50,000%TT HESTHN
Kingswell International Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary HK$1 — 100% Sale of electronic components
i BRELAR Lak BT HESTHN
T RPRZBEER The People’s Republic  Limited liability company ~ HK$20,000,000 — 100%  Business Consultancy
of China BREMAH 20,000,000/ 7T (The People's Republic of China)
REAREME EEHA(REARLNE)
TR RZEREERAR The People’s Republic  Limited liability company ~ RMB10,000,000 — 100%  Investment holding
of China BREARTA AR 10,000,000 7T (The People's Republic of China)
REARLTE RARR (hE ARENE)
EHENEEILAREREREART  The People's Republic  Limited liability company ~ RMB10,000,000 - 52%  Funeral and related business
of China BRELAR AR 10,000,0007 (The People's Republic of China)
REAREME BEREBEE (HEARLANE)
ARDRERRHEBR LA The People’s Republic  Limited liability company ~ RMB30,000,000 - 51% Funeral and related business
of China BREFAR AE30,000,0007 (The People’s Republic of China)
REARLAE BEREEZR (FEARLNE)
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at EMBRARHMEANNAFERERIEFER
the end of the year or at any time during the year. EAISRFEZ EFES °
38. APPROVAL OF ACCOUNTS 38. #t/EERE
The consolidated financial statements were approved and ARAEFEN_T—F AT N\BH#ER
authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of directors on 28 BRI BGREMIEHE -

June 2011.
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The summarised consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the A&EEBEREATRFEZGEES  BELREEUH
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited — $xERNEBERZMBHRE)BHIWT ¢
financial statements of the Group, were set out below:

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE
2007 2008 2009 AONI0] 2011

—TE+F ZEENFE ZTENGF —TITF ZTB——F
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FAT FAT FAT THET

RESULTS HKE
Turnover e 14,692 29,776 55,720 74,505 79,733
Loss before tax BT R E B (6,628) (13,369) (1,116) (48,140) (9,879)
Income tax PSR — — (2,265) (1,537) (81)
Loss for the year REEERE (6,628) (13,369) (3,381) (49,677) (9,960)
Attributable to: FEAG -

Owners of the Company PN ZSUN (6,628) (13,369) (6,290) (39,769) (8,930)

Non-controlling interests IEIEAR HE = — — 2,909 (9,908) (1,030)

2007 2008 2010 2011

—TELE —TEN\F % —T-TF —B——F
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
T FET  FET AR FH T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥EREE

Total assets BEREE 20,315 73,503 357,182 419,983 433,215
Total liabilities BfERE (5,083) (1,555) (92,254) (112,653) (106,317)
Net assets BEFE 15,232 71,948 264,928 307,330 326,898
Non-controlling interests eI — — 83,718 77,607 57,434
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